

NKS-459 ISBN 978-87-7893-552-6

Evaluation of the bioaccumulation processes for a wide set of radionuclides under accidental releases by biota

losjpe M.¹, Isaksson M.², Joensen H. P.³, Jónsson G.⁴, Suolanen V.⁵

¹ Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (DSA), ²Department of Medical Radiation Sciences, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ³Fróðskaparsetur Føroya, ⁴Icelandic Radiation Safety Authority, ⁵VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd



Abstract

It was shown that it is impossible to use two approaches for the bioaccumulation process at the same time: (i) bioaccumulation based on the concentration rate approach and (ii) kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation process. Simultaneous use of these two approaches provides a wrong description of the bioaccumulation process and concentration of radionuclides in biota, especially during the first period of exposure. In this connection, the evaluation of the kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process for a wide set of radionuclides and biota has been provided. Preliminary evaluation of the kinetic parameters has been provided based on literature review and the extraction from existing databases. The selected kinetic parameters have been further improved based on mathematical experiments, including the successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during increasing trophic levels. The sub-model with the modified kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process has been used based on simulations from the compartmental model, which uses the noninstantaneous dispersion of radioactivity in the marine environment. The selected release scenario corresponds to a potential accident with nuclear submarine reactor in the Gulf of Finland. Concentrations of radionuclides in biota, doses to humans and dose rates to the marine organisms have been evaluated. The results of the present study can be used to improve the ability to evaluate the consequences to humans and biota after a radioactive release into marine environment. It was shown that the methodology, which was used in the present study allows to find a suitable set of kinetic parameters.

Key words

Radionuclides, bioaccumulation, kinetic modelling, consequences to humans and biota

NKS-459 ISBN 978-87-7893-552-6 Electronic report, May 2022 NKS Secretariat P.O. Box 49 DK - 4000 Roskilde, Denmark Phone +45 4677 4041 www.nks.org e-mail nks@nks.org Nordic nuclear safety research

Evaluation of the bioaccumulation processes for a wide set of radionuclides under accidental releases by biota (BIORAD)

Mikhail Iosjpe¹, Mats Isaksson², Hans Pauli Joensen³, Gísli Jónsson⁴, Vesa Suolanen⁵

¹Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (DSA), ²Department of Medical Radiation Sciences, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ³Fróðskaparsetur Føroya, ⁴Icelandic Radiation Safety Authority, ⁵VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd

Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority

Østerås, Norway

2021

Contents

1.	Introduction2
2.	Bioaccumulation of radionuclides in marine organisms: food chain
3.	The system of equations for the bioaccumulation process
4.	Preliminary choosing of the kinetic parameters based on the literature
	review and existing databases5
5.	The lack and uncertainties of available information20
6.	Potential reduction and control of the uncertainty for evaluation of the
	kinetic parameters of the model for bioaccumulation of radionuclides
	in biota
	6.1 Allometric approach21
	6.2 The excretion rates for the isotopes of the radioactive element
	6.3 Simplification of the modeling approach
	6.4 The similarity of the distribution of radionuclides in biota
	6.5 The successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during
	increasing trophic levels
7.	Consequences after potential nuclear accident: implementation of the kinetic
	modelling for bioaccumulation of radionuclides in biota48
	7.1 The ARCTICMAR model
	7.1.1. Main equations for the dispersion of radionuclides in the oceanic
	Space
	7.1.2. Dose assessment for humans
	7.1.3. Dose assessment for biota
	7.2. Release scenario54
	7.2.1. Inventory and release scenario of the potential accident
	7.2.2. Locations of the potential accident
	7.3. Concentrations of radionuclides in marine biota
	7.4. Doses to a human in the critical group
	7.5. Dose rates to marine organisms
8.	Conclusion
9.	References74
10.	Appendix
	= =

1. Introduction

Bioaccumulation of radionuclides by biota is a crucial topic within the analysis of consequences for humans and animals following radionuclide releases to the environment.

Kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation processes has been shown to provide more realistic results when compared to an appoach based on equilibrium concentration ratio (CR). Calculations for both approaches are shown in Figure 1, adopted from Iosjpe et al. (2016).

Blue and red lines in Figure 1 correspond with concentrations in water and fish (with equilibrium concentration ratio, CR, approach), correspondently. Therefore, these plots have the same shape. Biokinetic modelling describes the "delay" with the changing of concentration of radionuclides in water. It is a clear demonstration that the dynamic modelling of the bioaccumulation processes provides a more correct description of the concentration of radionuclides in biota (up to an order of magnitude).



Figure 1. Comparison of the prediction of the concentration of Cs-137 in fish with experimental data for the Gulf of Finland for both the constant concentration factor approach and the biokinetic modelling for the Chernobyl accident for different food chain assumptions.

The present study will use the radionuclide inventories and assumptions about radionuclide releases for nuclear submarine presented by Hosseini et al. (2015) with refinements from Iosjpe et alc. (2020).

Because some radionuclides, with their provenance in a criticality event, have a very short physical half-life or very low inventory, they can be safely discounted. The following radionuclides have therefore been selected for potential consideration in the present study: Am-241, Co-60, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155, Ni-59, Ni-63, Pu-238, Pu-239, Pu-240, Pu-241, Sr-90.

Unfortunately, information about parameters for kinetic modelling for many radionuclides and biota is lacking. Analysis of bioaccumulation processes for potential release scenarios for nuclear submarines demonstrate that it is incorrect to use both kinetic modelling and equilibrium concentration ratio approaches simultaneously as shown in Figure 2 (Iosjpe et al., 2020). Figure 2 shows concentrations in fish for some radionuclides where Cs-137 has been derived using the kinetic approach, and other radionuclides using the equilibrium concentration ratio (i.e. CR) approach. Given its relatively elevated levels in seawater, Cs-137 should strongly dominate the concentration, but during the initial period of the bioaccumulation process, the impact of Cs-137 is negligible in comparison with other radionuclides. This discrepancy corresponds to the fact that during the period when releases of radionuclides start, the concentration in biota is zero (as for Cs-137 in Figure 2), but according to the present release scenarios the equilibrium concentration ratio approach provides maximal concentrations in biota.



Figure 2. Kinetic modelling (Cs-137) vs. equilibrium concentration ratio approach (Co-60, Eu-252, Ni-63, Sm-151, Sn-126). Simulations are presented within time interval [0, 0.6] years.

The objective of the present NKS BIORAD project is to evaluate the bioaccumulation processes for a wide set of radionuclides and biota with subsequent analysis of the consequences after radionuclides releases into marine environment.

2. Bioaccumulation of radionuclides in marine organisms: food chain

Figure 3 shows the schematic of the food chain for the biokinetic models, which was selected as a basis for the present study (Hosseini et al., 2016, 2017; IAEA 1998; Iosjpe et al., 2016; de With et al., 2021).





Figure 3. Schematic of the biokinetic models. Arrows correspond to the radionuclide transfer between marine organisms.

3. The system of equations for the bioaccumulation process

The system of equations for the biokinetic model can be described by the following expression, which was chosen after analyzing the existing models (Thomann, 1981; Heling et al., 2002; Brown et al., 2004; Vives i Batlle et al., 2008; Maderich et al., 2013; de With et al., 2021):

$$\frac{dC_{i}^{(d)}}{dt} = AE_{i} \cdot IR_{i} \cdot C_{i-1}^{(d)} + k_{u,i} \cdot C_{w} - C_{i}^{(d)} \cdot k_{e,i}$$
(1)

Here $C^{(tl)}_i$ and $C^{(tl)}_{i-1}$ – concentrations of radionuclide in trophic levels "*i*" and "*i*-1"; C_W – concentration of radionuclide in water column; AE_i – the assimilation efficiency for trophic level "*i*", IR_i – ingestion per unit mass for trophic level "*i*"; $k_{u,i}$ – rate of the direct uptake of activity from water column for trophic level "*i*"; $k_{e,i}$ – the excretion rate for trophic level "*i*". Where the consumption for species in trophic levels "*i*" includes "*m*" different species in trophic levels "*i*-1", parameter $C^{(tl)}_{i-1}$ can be described as

$$C_{i-1}^{(tl)} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} w_j \cdot C_{i-1,j}^{(tl)}$$
(2)

Here the consumption for species in trophic level "i" includes m species in trophic levels

"*i-1*" with concentration of radionuclide in species j (j=1,...,m) of $C^{(tl)}_{i-1,j}$; w_j is a fraction of species j of all m species, where

$$\sum_{j=1}^m w_j = 1$$

It is important to note that knowledge about biokinetic coefficients based on habitat, ingestion of food, diet and excretion of activity for studied species are crucial information for biokinetic modelling.

4. Preliminary choosing of the kinetic parameters based on the literature review and existing databases.

The values of the biokinetic coefficients form equations (1) - (2) are tabulated in Tables 1-5. Tables 1-5 show that the values of the kinetic coefficients differ widely. Such uncertainties can be explained by the definition of the reference organisms, where different species are described by the same reference biota. Further, great variability is associated with the dimensions, masses and habitats for different organisms of the same species. It should also be noted that there are differences in kinetic models for describing the bioaccumulation process in marine organisms

that provide a different description of kinetic parameters - the clear examples of such differences are presented by Vives i Batlle et al. (2016).

Ingestion per unit mass of biota (ingestion rate IR) is presented in Table 1. Consumption for species with food preferences, described as a fraction of w from expression (2), is shown in Table 2. The assimilation efficiency for food consumptions (AE) for marine organisms is presented in Table 3. The rate of the direct uptake of activity from water column (k_u) for marine organisms is presented in Table 4. The excretion rate (k_e) for selected radionuclides and marine organisms and Biological half-life of radionuclides in organisms ($T_{1/2}$) are presented in Table 5. A symbol "*" in Tables 1-5 is described in section 6.5 and corresponds to the parameters in this study.

Organism	IR	References
Zooplankton	0.105*	Thomann, 1981; the present report
	1	de With et al., 2021
Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish	0.017*	Thomann, 1981; the present report
	0.03	Keum et al., 2015
	0.03	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE, 2015
Piscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish	0.009*	Thomann, 1981; Hosseini et al., 2017;
		the present report
	0.0055	PREPARE, 2015
	0.007	de With et al., 2021
	0.03	Keum et al., 2015
Deposit-feeding invertebrate	0.02	de With et al., 2021; the present report
Mollusk	0.06*	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE, 2015;
		the present report
	0.064	Keum et al., 2015
	0,2	Hosseini et al., 2017
Crustacean	0.015*	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE, 2015;
		the present report
	0,027	Keum et al., 2015; Hosseini et al., 2017
Demersal fish	0.007*	de With et al., 2021; the present report
	0.03	Keum et al., 2015
Bottom predator	0.03	Keum et al., 2015
	0.007*	de With et al., 2021; the present report
Coastal predator	0.007	de With et al., 2021; the present report
	0.03	Keum et al., 2015
Seal	0.072*	Hosseini et al., 2017; the present report
Sea Bird	0.28*	Hosseini et al., 2017; the present report

Table 1. Ingestion rates, (kg/d)/kg f.w.

 Table 2. Consumption for species with food preferences.

Zooplankton1*PhytoplanctoonThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportNon-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish1*ZooplanctoonThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021Mollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2Zooplankton0.60.2Macroalgae10.2Zooplankton10.2Zooplankton10.3Macroalgae10.4PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.5Macroalgae10.2Zooplankton10.3Macroalgae10.4Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.50.6Phytoplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.40.8Zooplankton10.5Macroalgae10.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.8Zooplankton10.1Macroalgae10.1Macroalgae10.1Macroalgae10.1	Species	W	Consumption	References
Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish1* 1*ZooplanctoonThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1* -Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5 -Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5 -Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5 -MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present reportMollusk0.8* -Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.2 ·ZooplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2 ·MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2 ·Molplanktonde With et al., 20210.2 ·Mooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2 ·Mooplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.3 ·Poplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.4 ·Oollanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.5 ·Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*b ·Poplosit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*b ·OollaukOolaukde With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*b ·Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present repo	Zooplankton	1*	Phytoplanctoon	Thomann, 1981; de With
Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish1*ZooplanctoonreportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 20210.5MacroalgaeMollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.20.2*Poplankton0.2Bottom deposit (organic matter)0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.2Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.				et al., 2021; the present
Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish1*ZooplanctoonThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportPiscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate1*Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fishThomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present reportDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.5Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021 de With et al., 2021Mollusk0.5MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present reportMollusk0.6PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2MacroalgaePresent report0.2ZooplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2MacroalgaePresent report0.2ZooplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2MacroalgaePresent report0.3Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 20210.4Mollusk2000.5Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Mollusk40.1*Mollusk40.1*Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.2*Mollusk40.2*Mollusk40.2*Mollusk40.2*Mon-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the prese				report
Pelagic small fish i et al., 2021; the present report Piscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish 1* Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish Thomann 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present report Deposit-feeding invertebrate 0.5 Bottom deposit (organic matter) de With et al., 2021 Mollusk 0.5 Macroalgae PREPARE, 2015; the present report Mollusk 0.8* Phytoplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Zooplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2 Macroalgae Demersal fish 0.1 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.8* Zooplankton Demersal fish 0.1 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Mollusk Demersal fish 0.1* 0.1* Mollusk Demersal fish <t< th=""><th>Non-piscivorous fish /</th><th>1*</th><th>Zooplanctoon</th><th>Thomann, 1981; de With</th></t<>	Non-piscivorous fish /	1*	Zooplanctoon	Thomann, 1981; de With
Piscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish I* Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish Thomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present report Deposit-feeding invertebrate 0.5 Bottom deposit (organic matter) de With et al., 2021 Deposit-feeding 0.5 Macroalgae PREPARE, 2015; the present report Mollusk 0.8* Phytoplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Zooplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2 Zooplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Macroalgae Present report 0.2 Zooplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Macroalgae Present report 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2 Zooplankton Present report 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Mollusk Image: Cooplankton 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Deposit-feeding invertebrate de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1* Mollusk Image:	Pelagic small fish			et al., 2021; the present
Piscivorouss fish / Pelagic large fish 1* Non-piscivorous fish / Pelagic small fish Thomann, 1981; de With et al., 2021; the present report Deposit-feeding invertebrate 0.5 Bottom deposit (organic matter) de With et al., 2021 Mollusk 0.5 Macroalgae PREPARE, 2015; the present report Mollusk 0.8* Phytoplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Zooplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2 Macroalgae Present report 0.2* Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2* Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Bottom deposit (organic matter) de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Macroalgae de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1* Mollusk de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1* Mollusk de				report
Pelagic large fish Pelagic small fish et al., 2021; the present report Deposit-feeding invertebrate 0.5 Bottom deposit (organic matter) de With et al., 2021 Mollusk 0.5 Macroalgae PREPARE, 2015; the present report Mollusk 0.8* Phytoplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2* Zooplankton de With et al., 2021 0.6 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021 0.2 Zooplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.2 Macroalgae PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.8* Zooplankton PREPARE, 2015; the present report 0.8* Zooplankton de With et al., 2021 0.1 Phytoplankton de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.1 Macroalgae Present report 0.1 Macroalgae Present report 0.1* Deposit-feeding invertebrate de With et al., 2021; the present report 0	Piscivorouss fish /	1*	Non-piscivorous fish /	Thomann, 1981; de With
Image: section of the secting section of the section of the secti	Pelagic large fish		Pelagic small fish	et al., 2021; the present
Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.5Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 20210.5MacroalgaeMollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Macroalgae0.2Macroalgae0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2Macroalgae0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Macroalgae0.1*Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8*Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Crustacean0.2*Mollusk0.2*Mollusk0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report				report
invertebratematter)0.5MacroalgaeMollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Zooplankton0.2*Zooplankton0.2Zooplankton0.2Zooplankton0.2Macroalgae0.2MacroalgaeCrustacean0.2*Phytoplankton0.1PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Oplankton0.2*Sooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8*Zooplankton0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Mollusk0.1*Mollusk0.2*Mollusk0.3*Demersal fish0.3*0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report	Deposit-feeding	0.5	Bottom deposit (organic	de With et al., 2021
0.5MacroalgaeMollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8*Zooplankton0.10.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8*Zooplankton0.10.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter) rde With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*0.1*Crustacean0.3*Bottom predator0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report	invertebrate		matter)	
Mollusk0.8*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present reportCrustacean0.2*Phytoplankton0.8*Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.10.1Phytoplankton0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)0.1*Olitek et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Crustacean0.1*Crustacean0.1*Crustacean0.1*Crustacean0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Crustacean0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.5	Macroalgae	
Monusk0.0HypepkinkonFile File File0.2Jopen Kinnpresent report0.2*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.2MacroalgaePREPARE, 2015; the present report0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.8*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.8*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.3*Zooplanktonde With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*0.1*Crustacean10.1*Crustacean10.2*Mollusk10.2*Mollusk10.2*Crustacean10.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report	Mollusk	0.8*	Phytoplankton	PREPARE 2015 the
0.2*Zooplanktonpresent report0.6Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplankton0.20.2Macroalgae0.2Crustacean0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.8*Zooplankton0.10.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.10.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.10.1Macroalgae0.10.1Macroalgae0.10.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Opposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*0.1*Crustacean0.1*0.1*Crustacean0.1*0.1*Crustacean0.1*0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Ols*Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.2*Mollusk	WORLDA	0.0		present report
0.2Deprintion0.6Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplankton		0.2*	Zooplankton	
0.6Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.2Zooplankton		0.2	Phytoplankton	do With at al 2021
0.2Zooplankton0.2MacroalgaeCrustacean0.2*Phytoplankton0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.8*Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.1Macroalgae0.1Macroalgae0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Crustacean0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*OllvsDeposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Crustacean0.2*Mollusk0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.0		de with et al., 2021
Crustacean0.2MacroalgaeCrustacean0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2015; the present report0.8*Zooplanktonde With et al., 20210.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.1Macroalgae0.1Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Crustacean0.2*Mollusk0.2*Mollusk0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Mollusk0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.2	Zooplankton	
Crustacean0.2*PhytoplanktonPREPARE, 2013; the present report0.8*Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.1MacroalgaeDemersal fish0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*CrustaceanBottom predator0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report	Constances	0.2	Macroalgae	
Image: Constal present report0.8Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton0.1MacroalgaeDemersal fish0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Crustacean0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebratede With et al., 2021; the present report0.1*Mollusk0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report	Crustacean	0.2*	Phytoplankton	PREPARE, 2015; the
0.3**Zooplankton0.1Phytoplanktonde With et al., 20210.8Zooplankton		0.0*	Zeenleghten	present report
0.1Phytoplatikonde with et al., 20210.8Zooplankton		0.8*	Zooplankton	do With at al. 2021
0.3Zooplankton0.1MacroalgaeDemersal fish0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*MolluskImage: Crustacean0.1*Crustaceande With et al., 2021; the present reportBottom predator0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*MolluskImage: Crustacean0.2*CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.2*Demersal fishImage: Crustacean0.3*Demersal fishImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: CrustaceanImage: Crustacean0.3*Image: Crustac		0.1		de with et al., 2021
Demersal fish0.1Macroargae0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de With et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Crustacean0.1*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.8	Zooplankton	
Demersal fish0.1*Bottom deposit (organic matter)de with et al., 2021; the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*0.1*Mollusk	Domongolfish	0.1	Macroalgae	de With et al. 2021, the
Image: Section of the present report0.7*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*Crustacean0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fish	Demersal lish	0.1*	Bottom deposit (organic matter)	de with et al., 2021; the
0.1*Deposit-reeding invertebrate0.1*Mollusk0.1*CrustaceanBottom predator0.3*0.3*Deposit-feeding invertebrate0.2*Mollusk0.2*Crustacean0.2*Crustacean0.3*Demersal fish0.3*Demersal fish0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.7*	Danagit facing invertabrate	
0.1* Monusk 0.1* Crustacean Bottom predator 0.3* Deposit-feeding invertebrate de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.2* Mollusk		0.7*	Mollusk	
Bottom predator 0.1* Crustacean de With et al., 2021; the present report 0.2* Mollusk 0.2* 0.2* Crustacean 0.3* 0.3* Demersal fish 0.2* 0.2* Non-piscivorous fish de With et al., 2021; the present report		0.1*	Crustacoan	
Bottom predator 0.3* Deposit-recenting invertebrate def with et al., 2021, the present report 0.2* Mollusk 0.2* Crustacean 0.3* Demersal fish 0.2* Non-piscivorous fish de With et al., 2021; the present report	Bottom produtor	0.1	Deposit feeding invertebrate	do With at al 2021, the
0.2* Mollusk 0.2* Crustacean 0.3* Demersal fish 0.2* Non-piscivorous fish de With et al., 2021; the present report	Dottom predator	0.5	Deposit-recuing invertebrate	present report
0.2* Crustacean 0.3* Demersal fish 0.2* Non-piscivorous fish de With et al., 2021; the present report		0.2*	Mollusk	
0.2Ordstatecall0.3*Demersal fishCoastal predator0.2*0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.2*	Crustacean	
Coastal predator0.2*Non-piscivorous fishde With et al., 2021; the present report		0.2	Demersal fish	
present report	Coastal predator	0.3	Non-piscivorous fish	de With et al 2021 the
present report		0.2	Tion piservorous fish	present report
0.25* Deposit-feeding invertebrate		0.25*	Deposit-feeding invertebrate	present report
0.1* Mollusk		0.1*	Mollusk	
0.2* Crustacean		0.2*	Crustacean	
0.25* Demersal fish		0.25*	Demersal fish	
Seal 1* Piscivorouss fish / Hosseini et al 2016: the	Seal	1*	Piscivorouss fish /	Hosseini et al 2016 [,] the
Pelagic large fish present report		1	Pelagic large fish	present report
Sea Bird 1* Piscivorouss fish / Hosseini et al., 2016: the	Sea Bird	1*	Piscivorouss fish /	Hosseini et al., 2016: the
Pelagic large fish present report		-	Pelagic large fish	present report

Organism	Radionuclide	AE	References	
Zooplankton	Cs-137; Co-60	0.5*	Thomann, 1981; the present	
			report	
		0.2	PREPARE, 2015	
	Ni-59; Ni-63	0.2*	The present report	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.05*	The present report	
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01	Thomann, 1981	
	241			
		0.02*	The present report	
	Am-241	0.02*	The present report	
	General approach that has been	0.2*	PREPARE, 2015; de With et al.,	
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2021; the present approach	
	134, and Cs-137			
Non-piscivorous	Cs-137; Co-60; Ni-59; Ni-63	0.5*	Thomann, 1981; Brown et al.,	
fish/Pelagic small			2004; PREPARE, 2015; Hosseini	
fish			et al., 2017; the present report;	
		0.64	Keum et al., 2015	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.5*	The present report	
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01	Thomann, 1981	
	241			
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.05*	The present report	
	241; Am-241			
	Sr-90		Keum et al., 2015	
		0.3*	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016; Brown	
			et al., 2004; the present report	
Non-piscivorous	General approach that has been	0.5	PREPARE, 2015; de With et al.,	
fish/Pelagic small	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2021	
fish	134, and Cs-137			
Piscivorouss fish/	Cs-137	0.5*	Thomann, 1981; Brown et al.,	
Pelagic large fish			2004; Hosseini et al., 2017; th	
			present report	
		0.64	Keum et al., 2015	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155; Co-	0.7*	The present report	
	60; Ni-59; Ni-63			
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01	Thomann, 1981	
	241	0.43		
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.1*	The present report	
	241; Am-241	0.51		
	Sr-90	0.64	Keum et al., 2015	
		0.3*	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016; Brown	
	~		et al., 2004; the present report	
	General approach that has been	0.7	PREPARE, 2015; de With et al.,	
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2021	
	134, and Cs-137			

 Table 3. Assimilation efficiency rates.

Table 3. (continued).

Deposit-feeding	General approach that has been	0.3*	de With et al., 2021; the present
invertebrate	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		report
	134, Cs-137, Co-60; Ni-59;		
	Ni-63		
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.1*	The present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01*	The present report
	241; Am-241		
Mollusk	Cs-137; Ni-59; Ni-63	0.5*	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016;
			Hosseini et al., 2017; the present
			report
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.1*	The present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01*	The present report
	241; Am-241		
	Sr-90	0.28	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016;
			Keum et al., 2015
	General approach that has been	0.5*	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE,
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2015; the present report
	134, and Cs-137; Co-60		
Crustacean	Cs-137; Co-60; Ni-59; Ni-63	0.5*	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016;
			Hosseini et al., 2017; the present
			report
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.1*	The present report
Crustacean	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01*	The present report
	241; Am-241		
	Sr-90	0.28	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016; Keum
			et al., 2015
	General approach that has been	0.5*	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE,
	applied to Sr-90 , I-131, Cs-		2015; the present report
	134, and Cs-137	0.54	
Demersal fish	Cs-137; Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-	0.5*	Brown et al., 2004; de With et al.,
	155; Co-60; N1-59; N1-63		2021; Hosseini et al., 2017 the
		0.64	present report;
	D 220 D 220 D 240	0.64	Keum et al., 2015
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240	0.01	Thomann, 1981
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.05*	The present report
	241; Am-241	0.5	
	General approach that has been	0.5	de with et al., 2021; PREPARE,
	applied to SF-90, 1-131, CS-		2013
	134, and CS-137	0.64	Vince Detlle et al. 2016 Kenne
	51-90	0.04	vives i Battle et al., 2016; Keum
		0.3*	The present report
Bottom nuclator	Cc 127	0.3	do With at al. 2021; Hassaini at
bottom predator	C5-137	0.7	12017 2017 12021 ; Hosseini et
		0.5*	al., 2017 The present report
		0.5	Koum at al. 2015
1		0.04	Keulli et al., 2015

Table 3 (continued).

	/			
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155; Co-	0.7*	The present report	
	60; Ni-59; Ni-63			
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240	0.01	Thomann, 1981	
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.1*	The present report	
	241; Am-241			
	Sr-90	0.64	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016; Keum	
			et al., 2015	
		0.3*	The present report	
	General approach that has been	0.7	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE,	
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2015	
	134, and Cs-137			
Coastal predator	Cs-137	0.5*	Brown et al., 2004; Hosseini et	
			al., 2017; the present report	
		0.64	Keum et al., 2015	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155; Co-	0.7*	The present report	
	60; Ni-59; Ni-63			
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240	0.01	Thomann, 1981	
Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-		0.1*	The present report	
	241; Am-241			
Sr-90		0.64	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016; Keum	
			et al., 2015	
		0.3*	The present report	
	General approach that has been	0.7	de With et al., 2021	
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-			
	134, and Cs-137			
Seal	Cs-137	1*	Gwynn et al., 2006; Hosseini et	
			al., 2017; the present report	
	Co-60; Ni-59; Ni-63	0.5*	The present report	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.2*	The present report	
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.05*	The present report	
	241; Am-241			
	Sr-90	0.3*	The present report	
Sea Bird	Cs-137	1	Hosseini et al., 2017	
		0.5*	The present report	
	Ni-59; Ni-63	0.5*	The present report	
	Co-60	0.1*	The present report	
	Eu-152; Eu-154; Eu-155	0.1*	The present report	
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01*	The present report	
	241; Am-241			
Sea Bird	Sr-90	0.3*	The present report	

Table 4. The rate of the direct uptake of activity from the water column (k_u) , $1 \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot d^{-1}$ (Some investigators use the k_u dimensionality as d^{-1} under the assumption that the weght of 1 liter is equal to 1 kg).

Organism	Radionuclide	ku	References
Zooplankton	Cs-137	0.49*	Thomann, 1981; Brown et al.,
			2004; Hosseini et al., 2017; the
			present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	18.7*	Thomann, 1981; the present
	241; Am-241		report
	General approach that has	1.5*	PREPARE, 2015; de With et al.,
	been applied to Sr-90 , I-131,		2021; the present report
	Cs-134, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-		
	154, Eu-155, Co-60, Ni-59,		
	Ni-63		
Non-piscivorous	Cs-137	0.07*	Thomann, 1981; the present
fish/Pelagic small			report
fish			
		0.01	Brown et al., 2004; Hosseini et
			al., 2017
Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-		0.3*	Thomann, 1981; the present
	241; Am-241		report
General approach that has		0.1*	PREPARE, 2015; de With et al.,
	been applied to Sr-90 , I-131,		2021; the present report
	Cs-134, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-		
	154, Eu-155, Co-60t, Ni-59,		
	Ni-63		
Piscivorouss fish/	Cs-137	0.01*	Thomann, 1981; 0.01 Brown
Pelagic large fish			et al., 2004; Hosseini et al., 2017;
			the present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01	Thomann, 1981
	241		
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.05*	The present report
	241; Am-241	0.0554	
	General approach that has been	0.075*	PREPARE, 2015 PREPARE,
	applied to Sr-90 , 1-131, Cs-		2015; de With et al., 2021; the
	134, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-154,		present report
	Eu-155, Co-60, Ni-59, Ni-63	0.1.1	
Deposit-feeding	General approach that has been	0.1*	de With et al., 2021; the present
invertebrate	applied to Sr-90 , 1-131, Cs-		report
	134, US-157, EU-152, EU-154,		
	Eu-155, C0-00, NI-59, NI-05	0.1*	The present rene of
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.1*	i ne present report
	241; Am-241		

 Table 4. (continued)

Mollusk	Cs-137: Sr-90: Eu-152: Eu-	o0.15*	de With et al., 2021: PREPARE.
	154: Eu-155 Co-60 Ni-59		2015: the present report
	Ni-63		
	$P_{11} 238 P_{11} 230 P_{11} 240 P_{11}$	2.04*	The present report
	241: Am 241	2.04	The present report
	241, All-241	475	Hereinistel 2017
~	~	4.75	Hosseini et al., 2017
Crustacean	Cs-137	0.49	Hosseini et al., 2017
	General approach that has been	0.1*	de With et al., 2021; PREPARE,
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		2015; the present report
	134, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-154 ,		
	Eu-155, Co-60, Ni-59, Ni-63		
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.06*	The present report
	241; Am-241		
Demersal fish	General approach that has been	0.05	de With et al., 2021
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		
	134 and Cs-137		
	Cs-137	0.01	Brown et al 2004: Hosseini et
		0.01	al 2017
	Cs-137	0.07*	Thomann 1981: the present
	65-157	0.07	report
	Dy 228, Dy 220, Dy 240, Dy	0.01*	The present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.01*	The present report
	241; Am-241	0.1*	
	Sr-90, Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-	0.1*	The present report
	155, Co-60, N1-59, N1-63	0.07	
Bottom predator	General approach that has been	0.05	de With et al., 2021
	applied to Sr-90, I-131, Cs-		
	134, and Cs-137		
	Cs-137	0.01*	Thomann, 1981; Brown et al.,
			2004; Hosseini et al., 2017; the
			present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-	0.05*	The present report
	241; Am-241		
	Sr-90, Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-	0.075*	The present report
	155, Co-60, Ni-59, Ni-63		
Coastal predator	Cs-137	0.01*	Thomann, 1981; Brown et al.,
_			2004; Hosseini et al., 2017; the
			present report
	General approach that has been	0.075*	de With et al., 2021; the present
	applied to Sr-90 , I-131, Cs-		report
	134 Cs-137 Eu-152 Eu-154		
	Eu-155, Co-60 Ni-59, Ni-63		
	Pu-238. Pu-239. Pu-240. Pu-	0.05*	The present report
	241: Am 241	0.05	The present report
1	2+1, AIII-2+1		

Table 4. (continued)

Seal	All radionuclides	0*	Brown et al., 2004; Hosseini e	
			al., 2017; the present report	
Sea Bird	All radionuclides	0*	Hosseini et al., 2017; the present	
			report	

Table 5. The excretion rate (k_e, d^{-1}) for selected radionuclides and marine organisms and Biological half-life of radionuclides in organisms $(T_{1/2}, d)$. The parameter range (minimum and maximum values) is shown where possible in parametees.

Organism	Radionuclide	k _e	T _{1/2}	References
Zooplankton	Am-241	0.020	34	Beresford et al., 2015
	Cs-137	0.03*		Thomann, 1981; the
				present report
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	0.05*		Thomann, 1981; the
	Pu-240; Pu-241;			present report
	Am-241			
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	0.139*		The present report
	Eu-155, Co-60,			
	Ni-59, Ni-62			
	General approach	0.139*		The present report
7	that has been			PREPARE, 2015; de
Zooplankton	applied to Sr-90,	0.139*	5	With et al., 2021: the
	I-131, Cs-134,			present report
	Cs-137			
Non-	Co-60	4.99E-2	13.9	Beresford et al., 2015
piscivorous				
fish/Pelagic				
small fish				
	Cs-137	0.003*		Thomann, 1981; the
				present report
		0.0107		Hosseini et al., 2017
		0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015; Vives
				i Batlle et al., 2016
		0.0107	65	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		7.3E-3	95 (White fish)	Present study. Suolanen,
				2021
	Eu-152	0.03455*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.03466*		The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.01*		The present report

Table 5. (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	ke	T _{1/2}	References
Non-		7.32E-3	94.7 (35.4;	Beresford et al., 2015
piscivorous		(3.09E-3;	224)	
fish/Pelagic		1.96E-2)		
small fish				
	Sr-90	0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015; Vives
				i Batlle et al., 2016
		0.0139*		The present report
		4.95E-03	140	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	0.02*		Thomann, 1981; the
	Pu-240; Pu-241;			present report
	Am-241			
	General approach	1.39E-03	500 (Bone)	PREPARE, 2015; de
	that has been	9.24E-03	75 (Flesh)	With et al., 2021
	applied to Sr-90,	3.47E-02	20 (Organs)	
	I-131, Cs-134,	0.231	3 (Stomach)	
	Cs-137			
	Co-60	0.0112*		The present report
Piscivorouss	Co-60	1,89E-02	36.6 (28.9;	Beresford et al., 2015
fish / Pelagic		(1.40E-2;	9.5)	(Whole organism)
large fish		2.40E-2)		
		1,85E-02	37.5 (26; 48.7)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.42E-2;		(Intestine)
		2.67E-2)		
Piscivorouss		1.34E-02	51.6 (38.5; 60.3)	Beresford et al., 2015
fish / Pelagic		(1.15E-2;		(Muscle)
large fish		1.80E-2)		D
		1,60E-02	43.3 (38.4; 8.1)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1,44E-		(Liver)
Di	G 105	2;1,81E-2)		T 1001 1
Piscivorouss	Cs-137	1.8E-03*		Thomann, 1981; the
fish / Pelagic				present report
large fish		0.0107		H :: (1 0017
		0.0107	12	Hosseini et al., 2017
		0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015;
		0.0107	65	2016
		2.3E-3	300 (Pike)	Present study. Suolanen, 2021
		3E-3 (2.8E-3;	225 (200-250)	Present study. Suolanen,
		3.5E-3)	(Small and	2021
			large Pearch)	

Table 5. (continued).

Piscivorouss	Pu-238: Pu-239:	0.01*		Thomann, 1981; the
fish / Pelagic	Pu-240: Pu-241:			present report
large fish	Am-241			r ···· · · · ·
0	Sr-90	0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015;
		4.95E-03	140	Vives i Batlle et al.,
				2016
		4.88E-03*		The present report
	Eu-152	0.0172*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0173*		The present report
	Co-60	0.005*		The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.009*		The present report
	General approach	6.93E-04	1000 (Bone)	PREPARE, 2015; de
	that has been	4.62E-03	150 (Flesh)	With et al., 2021
	applied to Sr-90,	1.73E-02	40 (Organs)	
	I-131, Cs-134,	0.139	5 (Stomach)	
	and Cs-137			
Deposit-feeding	Cs-137	1.02E-1	6.77 (2.6;	Beresford et al., 2015
invertebrate		(3.50E-2;	19.8)	
		2.67E-1)		
	General approach	4.62E-02*	15	de With et al., 2021; the
	that has been			present report
	applied to Sr-90,			
	I-131, Cs-134,			
	and Cs-137			
Deposit-feeding	Co-60	3.06E-2	22.7 (7.9; 73)	Beresford et al., 2015
invertebrate		(9.50E-3;		
		8.80E-02)		
	Pu-238, Pu-239,	0.029*		The present report
	Pu-240, Pu,241,			
	Am-241			
	Sr-90, Co-60	1.04E-02*		The present report
	Eu-152	0.0381*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0382*		The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	1.04E-02*		The present report
Mollusk	Am-241	2.51E-2	27.6	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.78E-2;	(16.1; 39)	
		4.31E-2)		
	Am-241, Pu-238,	2.5E-2*		The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,			
	Pu-241			
	Co-60	5.21E-3	133 (31.4;	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.51E-2;	460)	
		2.21E-3)		

Table 5. (continued).

Mollusk	Pu-238, Pu-239,	7.22E-3	96.1 (6.5: 708)	Beresford et al., 2015
WORUSIX	Pu-240	(9 79F-4·	>0.1 (0.5, 700)	Deresiona et al., 2015
	1 u 240	(9.7524)		
	Sr 00	1.07E 1)	587(103)	Beresford et al. 2015
	51-90	1.10L-2 (5.08E 3)	116)	Deresiona et al., 2015
		(5.361-3)	110)	
		0.73E-2)	22	V
		3.01E-02	23	Keum et al., 2015;
	Sr-90, N1-59, N1- 63	1.39E-02*		The present report
		2.175E-02	32	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
	Eu-152	0.0694*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0695*		The present report
	Cs-137	1.70E-2	40.8 (1.6; 90)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(4.33E-1:		
		7.70E-3)		
	Cs-137, Co-60	1.39E-02*		The present report
		3.01E-02	23	Keum et al. 2015:
		3.85E-02	18	Vives i Batlle et al
		5.051 02	10	2016
		0.04		Hosseini et al. 2017
	Concrel approach	1 30E 02	50	DDEDADE 2015: do
	that has been	1.391-02	50	With at al. 2021
	applied to Sr 00			With et al., 2021
	$1 121 C_0 124$			
	1-131, Cs-134,			
Crusta acam		4.455.2	15 ((0, 27)	Demosfered at al. 2015
Crustacean	C0-60	4.45E-2;	15.6 (6.9; 27)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(2.57E-2;		
	D 220 D 220	1.00E-1)	260(15.20)	D 6 1 . 1 0015
	Pu-238, Pu-239,	2.59E-2	26.8 (15; 38)	Beresford et al., 2015
	Pu-240	(4.62E-2;		
		1.82E-2)		
	Pu-238, Pu-239,	0.033*		The present report
	Pu-240, Pu-241,			
	Am-241			
	Sr-90	2.42E-2	28.7 (13.4; 44)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.58E-2;		
		5.17E-2)		
		1.50E-02	46	Keum et al., 2015;
		6.93E-03*		The present report
		1.20E-02	58	Vives i Batlle et al.,
				2016

Table 5. (continued).

、	· ·			
Crustacean	Eu-152	6.82E-03*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155,	6.93E-03*		The present report
	Co-60, Ni-59, Ni-			
	63			
	Cs-137	2.31E-02	30	Beresford et al., 2015
		0.01		Hosseini et al., 2017
		1.50E-02	46	Keum et al., 2015;
		0.34	2	Vives i Batlle et al.,
				2016
	General approach	6.93E-03*	100	PREPARE, 2015;
	that has been			de With et al., 2021; the
	applied to Sr-90,			present report
	I-131, Cs-134,			
	and Cs-137			
Demersal fish	Co-60	9.99E-03	69.4	Beresford et al., 2015
		(4.18E-3;	(31; 166)	
		2.24E-2)		
	Sr-90	6.30E-3	110	Beresford et al., 2015
		0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015;
		4.95E-03	140	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		0.0139*		The present report
	Cs-137	1.64E-2	42.2	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.02E-2;	(18; 68)	
		3.85E-2)		
		0.0107	65	Hosseini et al., 2017;
				Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		0.003*		The present report
		5.33E-02	13	Keum et al., 2015;
	Am-241, Pu-238,	0.02*		The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,			
	Pu-241			
	General approach	1.39E-03	500 (Bone)	With et al., 2021
	that has been	9.24E-03	75 (Flesh) 20	
	applied to Sr-90,	3.47E-02	(Organs) 3	
	1-131, Cs-134, and	0.231	(Stomach)	
	Cs-137	0.02455*		
	Eu-152	0.03455*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.03466*		The present report
	Co-60	0.0112*		The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.01*		The present report

Table 5. (continued).

Bottom	Co-60	1.10E-02	63	Beresford et al., 2015
predator				
	Sr-90	1.59E-3	436 (178; 693)	Beresford et al., 2015
		(1.00E-3;		
		3.89E-3)		
		0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015;
		4.95E-03	140	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		4.88E-03*		The present report
	Cs-137	2.04E-02	34	Beresford et al., 2015
		0.0107		Vives i Batlle et al.,
				2016; Hosseini et al.,
				2017
		0.0018*		The present report
	Am-241, Pu-238,	0.01*		The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,			
	Pu-241			
	General approach	6.93E-04	1000 (Bone)	With et al., 2021
	that has been	4.62E-03	150 (Flesh) 40	
	applied to Sr-90,	1.73E-02	(Organs) 5	
	I-131, Cs-134, and	0.139	(Stomach)	
	Cs-137			
	Eu-152	0.0172*		The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0173*		The present report
	Co-60	0.005*		The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.009*		The present report
Coastal	Cs-137	7.32E-3	94.7 (35.4;	Beresford et al., 2015
predator		(3.09E-3;	224)	
		1.96E-2)		
	Cs-137	5.33E-02	13	Keum et al., 2015;
Coastal	Cs-137	0.0107	65	Hosseini et al., 2017;
predator				Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		0.0018*		The present report
	Sr-90	0.053	13	Keum et al., 2015;
	Sr-90	4.95E-03	140	Vives i Batlle et al., 2016
		4.88E-03*		The present report
	Am-241, Pu-238,	0.01*		The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,			
	Pu-241			
	General approach	6.93E-04	1000 (Bone)	PREPARE, 2015; de
	that has been	4.62E-03	150 (Flesh) 40	With et al., 2021
	applied to Sr-90,	1.73E-02	(Organs) 5	
	I-131, Cs-134, and	0.139	(Stomach)	
	Cs-137			
	Eu-152	0.0172*		The present report

Table 5. (continued).

Coastal	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0173*	The present report
predator			
	Co-60	0.005*	The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.009*	The present report
Seal	Cs-137	0.0239*	Gwynn et al., 2006;
			Hosseini et al., 2017; the
	A 041 D 000	2.05.02*	present report
Seal	Am-241, Pu-238,	2.0E-03*	The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,		
	Pu-241		
	Eu-152	0.0172*	The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0173*	The present report
	Sr-90	4.88E-03*	The present report
	Co-60	0.05*	The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.02*	The present report
Sea Bird	Cs-137	0.036*	Hosseini et al., 2017; the
			present report
	Am-241, Pu-238,	1.4E-02*	The present report
	Pu-239, Pu-240,		
	Pu-241		
	Sr-90	5.28E-03*	The present report
	Eu-152	0.0345*	The present report
	Eu-154, Eu-155	0.0346*	The present report
	Co-60	0.05*	The present report
	Ni-59, Ni-63	0.04*	The present report

Additionally, Table A1 of the Appendix includes information about equilibrium/quasiequilibrium concentration ratios (CR) for considered biota and radionuclides. The reason for including the concentration ratio data in the present report is a statement that evaluation of the bioaccumulation of radionuclides in biota by kinetic modelling approach and by the equilibrium concentration ratio approach have to provide the similar results under simulation of the equilibrium / quasi equilibrium conditions. This statement is important for controlling the simulation results, as well as for determining the kinetic parameters.

5. The lack and uncertainties of available information

The following radionuclides have been selected for potential consideration in the present study: Am-241, Co-60, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155, Ni-59, Ni-63, Pu-238, Pu-239, Pu-240, Pu-241, Sr-90.

Tables 1-5 show that there is information about some kinetic coefficients for following marine organisms: (1) phytoplankton, (2) zooplankton, (3) macroalgae, (4) different kind of non-piscivorous and piscivorous fish (different kind of fish are caused by different consumption and food preferences for species), (5) deposit-feeding invertebrate, (6) molluscs, (7) crustaceans, (8) seals and (9) sea birds/sea bird eggs.

According to collected information in Tables 1-5 and A1 there are estimations/information about equilibrium/quasi-equilibrium concentration ratios and ingesting rates for all selected organisms and radionuclides (however, it should be emphasized that there are the differences up to orders of magnitude even for the concentration ratios in different sources). The lack of information is shown in Table 6, where red colour corresponds to lack of information of three parameters (the assimilation efficiency, the rate of the direct uptake of activity from the water column and the excretion rate), blue colour corresponds to the lack of information for two of them, yellow colour corresponds to the lack of information about one parameter and green colour means that there is information about all three parameters.



Table 6. The lack of information about kinetic parameters.

It is nessasary to note that evaluation of bioaccumulation of radionuclides by phytoplankton and macroalagae is based on the assumption that equilibrium concentration ratio approach is suitable for this biota (Thomann, 1981).

It is also important to note that additionally to lack of information for kinetic parameters, there is a significant uncertainty for the known values of the parameters (up to orders of magnitude) according to information collected in Tables 1-5 and A1. The main reason for such uncertainties is a great variability of the environmental conditions for biota, habitats and significant mass variation for the same kind of species.

6. Potential reduction and control of the uncertainty for evaluation of the kinetic parameters of the model for bioaccumulation of radionuclides in biota

6.1. Allometric approach

The allometric approach is widely used for evaluation of the kinetic parameters for different species.

As example, we can consider an allometric approach, which is provided by Nagy (2001) in form of expressions for the fresh intake for seals (FMI_S), and birds (FMI_B), (g/day):

$FMI_{S}=0.348M_{S}^{0.859}$	(3)
$FMI_B = 3.221 M_B^{0.658}$,	(4)

where M_S and M_B are the weights of the adult seals and birds, (g), correspondently.

According to definition of the ingestion rate (IR) it is easy to write an expression for IR due the fresh intake (FMI) and mass (M) of the species:

IR = FMI / M

Therefore, expressions for the ingesting rates for adult seals (IR_s) and sea birds (IR_B) can be written as

$$IR_{S} = 0.348 \cdot M_{S}^{0.859-1} = 0.348 \cdot M_{S}^{-0.141}$$
(5)

$$IR_{B} = 3.221 \cdot M_{B}^{0.658 \cdot 1} = 3.221 \cdot M_{B}^{-0.342},$$
(6)

where M_S and M_B are weights of the seals and birds in grams.

Expressions (5) and (6) are illustrated by Figures 4 and 5.



Figure 4. The relationship between mass and ingestion rates for seals.



Figure 5. The relationship between mass and ingestion rates for sea birds.

Another example corresponds to allometric expressions for extration rates for seals and birds for Cs-137 and Pu-239:

Cs-137 and Pu-239 excretion rates for seals are provided by U.S. Department of Energy (2002) and Whicker and Shultz (1982):

$$k_e^{(S,CS)} = \frac{ln2}{3.5M_S^{0.24}} \tag{7}$$

$$k_e^{(S,Pu)} = \frac{ln2}{0.8M_S^{0.81}} \tag{8}$$

$$k_e^{(B,Cs)} = \frac{ln2}{18.36M_B^{0.24}} \tag{9}$$

Here $k_e^{(S,Cs)}$, $k_e^{(S,Pu)}$ and $k_e^{(B,Cs)}$ are Cs-137 and Pu-239 excretion rates for seals and the Cs-137 excretion rate for birds (d^{-1}) ; M_S and M_B are mass for seals and birds in grams (f. w.).

Expressions (7) - (9) are illustrated by Figures 6 - 8.



Figure 6. The relationship between mass and excretion rates for Cs-137 for seals.



Figure 7. The relationship between mass and excretion rates for Pu-239 for seals.



Figure 8. The relationship between mass and excretion rates for Cs-137 for sea birds.

Results described by expressions (5) - (9) and illustrated in Figures (4) - (8) show that allometric approach could be very useful for determining and controlling of the parameters of the same type of organisms with different masses. It has also demonstrated that estimating parameters with unknown mass of organism can lead to significant uncertainties. Therefore, it is necessary to consider this statement under verification of the bioaccumulation models.

6.2. The excretion rates for the isotopes of the radioactive element

We can adopt a reasonable assumption that the assimilation efficiency (AE_i) , the ingestion per unit mass (IR_i) and rate of the direct uptake of activity from the water column $(k_{u,i})$ are the same for each isotope of the same radioactive element.

The excretion rate for organism of trophic level "i" ($k_{e,i}$) is calculated by expression (10):

$$k_{e,i} = \frac{\ln 2}{T_{1/2,i}},\tag{10}$$

where $T_{1/2,i}$ is the effective half-life of radionuclide in this organism.

 $T_{1/2,i}$ can be defined from equation

$$\frac{1}{T_{1/2,i}} = \frac{1}{T_{1/2,i}^{(B)}} + \frac{1}{T_{1/2,i}^{(R)}},$$
(11)

where $T_{1/2,i}^{(B)}$ and $T_{1/2,i}^{(R)}$ are biological and radioactive/physical half-life, respectively.

It is easy to derive following statements from expressions (10) and (11):

If
$$T_{1/2,i}^{(B)} \ll T_{1/2,i}^{(R)}$$
 then $T_{1/2,i} \approx T_{1/2,i}^{(B)}$ (12)

If
$$T_{1/2,i}^{(B)} >> T_{1/2,i}^{(R)}$$
 then $T_{1/2,i} \approx T_{1/2,i}^{(R)}$ (13)

If
$$T_{1/2,i}^{(R*)} > T_{1/2,i}^{(R**)}$$
 then $T_{1/2,i}^{(*)} > T_{1/2,i}^{(**)}$ (14)

Here, $T_{1/2,i}^{(R*)}$ and $T_{1/2,i}^{(R**)}$ are radioactive / physical half-life for isotopes (*) and (**) of the same radioactive element, respectively; $T_{1/2,i}^{(*)}$ and $T_{1/2,i}^{(**)}$ are the effective half-life of isotopes (*) and (**) in this organism, respectively.

Expressions (10) - (14) allow control of the determination of excretion rates for isotopes with different physical half-life and may be useful during verification of the bioaccumulation model.

6.3. Simplification of the modeling approach

The simplification of the bioaccumulation model can be used where we have a lack of information on kinetic parameters.

Most models of marine bioaccumulation assume that the equilibrium/quasi-equilibrium concentration ratio approach can be applied to the accumulation of radionuclides in phytoplankton based on the concentration of the radionuclide in water. One of the simplifications is an extension of this approach to all kinds of prey / low trophic levels, if these organisms are not a final biota of the study (Hosseini et al., 2017).

Another possibility to simplify bioaccumulation models is to reduce the number of kinetic coefficients. Several models that practically combine the process of food ingestion and direct absorption of activity from water have been described in (Vives i Batlle et al., 2016).

In many cases, the simplified modeling approach can provide at least quite good conservative dose estimates of the main exposure pathways.

6.4. The similarity of the distribution of radionuclides in biota

Information about distribution of accumulated radionuclide in marine organisms can be useful for evaluation and control of the kinetic parameters. For example, according to (Yankovich et al. (2010), Cs-137 and Sr-90 are accumulated mainly in fish muscles and fish bones, respectively. PREPARE (2015) collected similar information about the main target in fish body for wide set of radionuclides.

It is possible to assume that similar distributions of activity of radionuclides in the different parts of marine organisms are based on the similar metabolism, and it is possible to consider such radionuclides as analogs. Therefore, in the absence of information about kinetic parameters, for the considered radionuclide, it is possible to use information from well-known analog as preliminary evaluation. In spite of such estimations are very rough, it can be useful to consider these estimations as initial points for following mathematical experiments.

6.5. The successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during increasing trophic levels.

In consequences of (i) significant lack of information regarding kinetic parameters for wide set of radionuclides and (ii) very large uncertainties for parameters presented in databases, evaluation of the kinetic parameters through the successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes under increasing trophic levels makes considerable promise. Such methodology provides an opportunity to compare results of simulations under equilibrium conditions with the concentration-ratio approach, which has the most developed database. Mathematical experiments in this section were performed with assistance of the approaches described in sections 6.1 - 6.4 of the present report.

Figures 9-15 show results for kinetic modelling of Cs-137 bioaccumulation in different marine organisms according to the food chain presented in the present report. Modelling has been performed for constant concentration of 1 Bq/l in marine water. The figures clearly show that concentration of Cs-137 in marine organisms tends to equilibrium or quasi-equilibrium state, which can be described by the concentration ratio approach.

Results presented in Figures 9-15 can be considered as verification of the present modelling approach. A part of parameters had been validated by result for the Finland Bay after Chernobyl accident (EFMARE, 2015). Nevertheless, Figures 9-15 demonstrate that even for Cs-137 there are different possibilities of describing the kinetic parameters to fit different values of the concentration ratios corresponding to different sources.

Figures 16-50 show similar results for Eu-155, Ni-63, Pu-239 and Sr-90.

For some radionuclides and biota there is information about arithmetical and geometrical mean values (AM and GM, correspondently) and the range for potential values (Min and Max, correspondently) of concentration ratios. This information is also presented in figures.



Figure 9. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 10. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish.



Figure 11. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 12. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in molluscs.



Figure 13. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure 14. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in seals.



Figure 15. Kinetic model for Cs-137 bioaccumulation in sea birds.



Figure 16. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 17. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish



Figure 18. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 19. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in molluscs



Figure 20. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure 21. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in seals.


Figure 22. Kinetic model for Eu-155 bioaccumulation in sea birds



Figure 23. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 24. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish.



Figure 25. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 26. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in molluscs.



Figure 27. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure 28. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in seals.



Figure 29. Kinetic model for Co-60 bioaccumulation in sea birds.



Figure 30. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 31. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish.



Figure 32. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 33. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in molluscs.



Figure 34. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure 35. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in seals.



Figure 36. Kinetic model for Ni-63 bioaccumulation in sea birds.



Figure 37. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 38. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish.



Figure 39. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 40. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in molluscs.



Figure 41. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure.42. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in seals.



Figure 43. Kinetic model for Pu-239 bioaccumulation in sea birds.



Figure 44. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in zooplankton.



Figure 45. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in non-piscivorous fish.



Figure 46. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in piscivorous fish.



Figure 47. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in molluscs.



Figure 48. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in crustaceans.



Figure 49. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in seals.



Figure 50. Kinetic model for Sr-90 bioaccumulation in sea birds.

Figures 16-50 show that the values of the kinetic coefficients selected due performed mathematical experiments can provide suitable comparison with concentration ratio approach related to equilibrium (the selected kinetic coefficients in Tables 1-5 are noted by sign "*", reference "the present report" and bold letters, if necessary). Mathematical experiments were based on the successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during increasing trophic levels. It is necessary to stress that such methodology allow to find suitable set of kinetic parameters, but it is impossible to proof that this set of parameters is best (Iosjpe, 2014). Therefore, it is important to justify the correctness of the parameters by site-specific information from considered marine regions.

7. Consequences after potential nuclear accident: implementation of the kinetic modelling for bioaccumulation of radionuclides in biota.

7.1. The ARCTICMAR model.

The present model uses a modified approach for compartmental modelling (Iosjpe et al., 2002, 2009; Iosjpe, 2006), which allows the study of dispersion of radionuclides over time (non-instantaneous mixing in the oceanic space). The box structures for surface, mid-depth and deepwater layers have been developed based on the description of polar, Atlantic and deep waters in the Arctic Ocean and the Northern Seas and site-specific information for the boxes generated from the 3D hydrodynamic model NAOSIM (Karcher and Harms, 2000). The model contains 345 water and sediment compartments. The surface structure of the model is presented in Figure 51.



Figure 51. The structure of the surface water boxes for the ARCTICMAR box model.

The box model includes the processes of advection of radioactivity between compartments, sedimentation, diffusion of radioactivity through pore water in sediments, particle mixing, pore water mixing and a burial process of radioactivity in deep sediment layers. Radioactive decay is calculated for all compartments. Accumulation of contamination by biota is further calculated from radionuclide concentrations in filtered seawater in different water regions. Doses to humans are calculated on the basis of given seafood consumptions, based on available data for seafood catches and assumptions about human diet in the respective areas. Dose rates to biota are derived on the basis of calculated radionuclide concentrations in marine organisms, water and sediment, using dose conversion factors.

7.1.1. Main equations for the dispersion of radionuclides in the oceanic space

The equations of the transfer of radionuclides between the boxes are of the form:

$$\frac{dA_{i}}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{ji} A_{j} \gamma [t \ge (T_{j} + w_{ji})] - \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{ij} A_{i} \gamma [t \ge (T_{i} + w_{ij})] - k_{i} A_{i} \gamma (t \ge T_{i}) + Q_{i}, t \ge T_{i}$$
(15)

 $A_i = 0, t < T_i$

where $k_{ii}=0$ for all *i*, A_i and A_j are activities (Bq) at time *t* in boxes i and *j*; k_{ij} and k_{ji} are rates of transfer (y^{-1}) between boxes *i* and *j*; k_i is an effective rate of transfer of activity (y^{-1}) from box *i* taking into account loss of material from the compartment without transfer to another, for example radioactive decay; Q_i is a source of input into box *i* ($Bq y^{-1}$); n is the number of boxes

in the system, T_i is the time of availability for box *i* (the first times when box *i* is open for dispersion of radionuclides) and γ is an unit function:

$$\gamma(t \ge T_i) = \begin{cases} 1, t \ge T_i \\ 0, t < T_i \end{cases}.$$

The times of availability T_i

$$T_{i} = \min_{\mu_{m}(v_{0}, v_{i}) \in M_{i}} \sum_{j,k} W_{jk}$$
(16)

are calculated as a minimized sum of the weights for all paths $\mu_m(v_0,...,v_i)$ from the initial box (v_0) with discharge of radionuclides to the box *i* on the oriented graph G=(V, E) with a set *V* of nodes v_j correspondent to boxes and a set *E* of arcs e_{jk} correspondent to the transfer possibility between the boxes *j* and *k* (graph elements as well as available paths are illustrated by Figure 52). Every arc e_{jk} has a weight w_{jk} which is defined as the time required before the transfer of radionuclides from box *j* to box *k* can begin (without any way through other boxes). Weight, w_{jk} , is considered as a discrete function *F* of the water fluxes f_{jk} , f_{kj} between boxes *j* and *k*, geographical information g_{jk} and expert evaluation X_{jk} . M_i is a set of feasible paths from the initial box (v_0) to the box *i* (v_i) .

The traditional box modelling is a particular case of the present approach when all times of availability in (1) are zero: $\{T_i\} = 0, i = 1, ..., n$.



Figure 52. Graph elements.

Expressions for the transfer rates of radioactivity between the bottom water and sediment compartments (Iosjpe, 2011) will be useful in the present analysis (the transfer rates are shown in Figure 53):

$$k_{WS} = \frac{SR \cdot k_{d}}{d \cdot (l + k_{d} \cdot SSL)} + \frac{D}{d \cdot h_{S}(l + k_{d} \cdot SSL)} + \frac{R_{T} \cdot \omega \cdot h_{S}}{d \cdot (l + k_{d} \cdot SSL)} + \frac{R_{W} \cdot \rho \cdot k_{d} \cdot (l - \omega)}{d \cdot (l + k_{d} \cdot SSL)}$$

$$k_{SW} = \frac{D}{h_{S}^{2} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]} + \frac{R_{T} \cdot \omega}{\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)} + \frac{R_{W} \cdot \rho \cdot k_{d} \cdot (1 - \omega)}{h_{S} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]}$$

$$k_{SM} = \frac{D \cdot \omega}{h_{S}^{2} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]} + \frac{k_{d} \cdot SR}{h_{S} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]}$$

$$(17)$$

$$k_{MS} = \frac{D \cdot \omega}{h_{S} \cdot h_{SM} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]}$$

$$k_{MS} = \frac{D \cdot \omega}{h_{S} \cdot h_{SM} \cdot [\omega + k_{d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]}$$

$$\kappa_{\rm MD} = \frac{1}{h_{\rm SM} \cdot [\omega + k_{\rm d} \cdot \rho \cdot (1 - \omega)]}$$

Here k_{WS} is composed of expressions describing the transfer of activity by sedimentation, molecular diffusion, pore water mixing and particle mixing, respectively. Similarly, k_{SW} is composed of expressions describing the transfer of radioactivity by molecular diffusion, pore water mixing and particle mixing. k_{SM} is composed of expressions describing the transfer of radioactivity by sedimentation and molecular diffusion. k_{MS} corresponds to the transfer by molecular diffusion. Finally, k_{MD} corresponds to the transfer of radioactivity by sedimentation. R_W (m y⁻¹) is the sediment reworking rate; R_T (y⁻¹) is the pore-water turnover rate; k_d (m³ t⁻¹) is the sediment distribution coefficient; SSL (t m⁻³) is the suspended sediment load in the water column; SR (t m⁻² y⁻¹) is the sedimentation rate; D (m² y⁻¹) is the molecular diffusion coefficient, h_S (m) and h_{SM} (m) are the surface and middle sediment thickness respectively; ω is the porosity of the bottom sediment; ρ (t m⁻³) is the density of the sediment material and d is the depth of the water column.



Figure 53. Generic vertical structure of the water-sediment compartments.

The ARCTICMAR model has previously been employed successfully in a number of applications. Results of simulations have been compared with experimental data, where data have been available (Iosjpe et al., 2009; Iosjpe, 2011; Iosjpe and Liland, 2012; Periánez et al., 2016).

Concentrations of the radionuclides in marine organisms can be calculated from radionuclide concentrations in filtered seawater and the concentrations ratios as well as by the kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation processes in biota, which is described in the section 3 of the present report.

7.1.2. Dose assessment for humans

The internal dose *D* can be determined using the following expression:

$$D = \sum_{j=1}^{m} DCF_{j} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \phi_{l} \cdot CF_{lj} \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{il} \int_{0}^{T} C_{ij}(t) dt$$
(18)

where [0, T] is the time interval for dose assessment; DCF_j is the dose conversion factor for radionuclide *j* (j = 1,2,..., m); CF_{lj} is the concentration factor for radionuclide *j* in seafood of type *l* (*l* = 1,2,..., k); A_{il} is consumption of seafood of type *l* in the model compartment *i*; (*i* = 1,2,...,n) for the critical group for the doses to critical group and catch of seafood for collective doses, if necessary; C_{ij} is the concentration of radionuclide *j* in filtered seawater in model compartment *i*; and φ_1 is equal 1 for the doses to the critical group and φ_1 is the edible fraction for seafood of type i (50% for fish, 35% for crustaceans and 15% for molluscs (CEC, 1990; EC, 2000; IASAP, 2003) for the collective doses, if necessary.

The individual dose rate for the external exposure can be estimated with the following expresson (Iosjpe et al., 2009). Methodology is similar to EC (1994):

$$DR_{ext} = F_{W}^{(O)} \cdot \sum_{i} DCF_{i}^{(ext,w)} \cdot \overline{C}_{i}^{(bulk,w)} + F_{S}^{(O)} \cdot f_{S} \sum_{i} DCF_{i}^{(ext,s)} \cdot \overline{C}_{i}^{(bulk,s)}$$
(19)

where $\overline{C}_i^{(bulk,w)}$ is the average bulk concentration of radionuclide *i* in the water column with regards to both water and sediment phases; $\overline{C}_i^{(bulk,s)}$ is the average bulk concentration of the sediment phase in the actual sea area; DCF_i^(ext,w) and DCF_i^(ext,s) are the dose conversion factors for external exposure of radionuclide *i*, for water immersion and contaminated ground surface, respectively; $F_W^{(O)}$ and $F_S^{(O)}$ are the occupancy factors for "swimming" and the "beach sediment" pathways (in the following calculations it is assumed that both factors are of 0.5); f_S is a part of the sediment concentration, which is considered as beach concentration (following (IASAP, 2003), it is assumed that f_S is 0.1).

In the present study, the doses to man are calculated only for ingestion because the comparison of the contribution to human doses from this pathway against external exposure indicates a clear domination of the former (EC, 1994; IASAP, 2003, Iosjpe et al., 2009).

7.1.3. Dose assessment for biota

The ARCTICMAR model uses the following expressions for internal and external dose rates for biota (Brown and Hosseini, 2019; Hosseini et al., 2016, 2017, Iosjpe et al., 2009).

The basic underlying equations (Equations 8 and 9) utilise activity concentration data in order to derive internal (D_{int}) and external (D_{ext}) absorbed dose-rates (in units of μ Gy h⁻¹). The total absorbed dose-rate is the sum of these components, through the application of dose conversion coefficients (DCCs).

$$\dot{\mathbf{D}}_{\text{int}}^{b} = \sum_{i} \mathbf{C}_{i}^{b} * \mathbf{D}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}_{\text{int, i}}^{b}$$
(20)

where:

 C_i^b is the average concentration of radionuclide *i* in the reference organism *b* (Bq kg⁻¹ fresh weight),

 $DCC_{int,i}^{b}$ is the radionuclide-specific dose conversion coefficient (DCC) for internal exposure defined as the ratio between the average activity concentration of radionuclide *i* in the organism *j* and the dose rate to the organism b (μ Gy h⁻¹ per Bq kg⁻¹ fresh weight).

$$\dot{\mathbf{D}}_{\text{ext}}^{\text{b}} = \sum_{z} \mathbf{v}_{z} \sum_{i} \mathbf{C}_{zi}^{\text{ref}} * \mathbf{D} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C}_{\text{ext}, zi}^{\text{b}}$$
(21)

where v_z is the occupancy factor, i.e. fraction of the time that the organism *b* spends at a specified position *z* in its habitat, C_{zi}^{ref} is the average concentration of radionuclide *i* in the reference media of a given location *z* (Bq kg⁻¹ fresh weight (water) or dry weight (sediment) or Bq l⁻¹ (water)), $DCC_{ext,zi}^{j}$ is the dose conversion coefficient for external exposure defined as the ratio between the average activity concentration of radionuclide *i* in the reference media corresponding to the location *z* and the dose rate to organism *b* (µGy h⁻¹ per Bq kg⁻¹ fresh weight or Bq l⁻¹).

Weighted total dose rates (in μ Gy h⁻¹) are derived through the application of weighting factors (dimensionless) for alpha, low beta and high beta-gamma radiation.

$$DCC_{int} = wf_{low\beta} \cdot DCC_{int, low\beta} + wf_{\beta+\gamma} \cdot DCC_{int, \beta+\gamma} + wf_{\alpha} \cdot DCC_{int, \alpha}$$
(22)

$$DCC_{ext} = wf_{low\beta} \cdot DCC_{ext,low\beta} + wf_{\beta+\gamma} \cdot DCC_{ext,\beta+\gamma}$$

Here "wf" are weighting factors for various components of radiation (low β , $\beta + \gamma$ and α), DCC are dose conversion coefficients in μ Gy h⁻¹ per Bq l⁻¹ or Bq kg⁻¹. Default radiation weighting factors of 10 for alpha radiation, 1 for low energy beta and 1 for (high energy) beta and gamma radiation are applied in this assessment in line with those applied in UNSCEAR (2008).

7.2. Release scenario.

7.2.1. Inventory and release scenario of the potential accident

The present study is based on the radionuclide inventories presented by Hosseini et al. (2015) and assumptions about the worst-case scenario for releases of radionuclides from the nuclear reactors of the Russian submarine after a potential accident.

For the worst-case scenario, a release pattern, divided into two fractions, was assumed: (i) an instantaneous release of radionuclides and (ii) a slow long-term release similar to models applied in simulating the dissolution of the uranium oxide matrix. This is in line with similar scenarios described, for example, for sunken vessels with spent fuel on board (Reistad, 2008; Iosjpe et al., 2009; Iosjpe and Liland, 2012).

Because some radionuclides, with their provenance in a criticality event, have a very short physical half-life or very low inventory, they can be safely discounted. The following radionuclides have therefore been selected for consideration in the present study: Am-241, Co-60, Cs-137, Eu-152, Eu-155, Ni-59, Ni-63, Pu-238, Pu-239, Pu-240, Pu-241, Sr-90.

It should be noted that the release of fuel corrosion products depends on many factors (fuel matrix construction, seawater temperature, type and extent of damage during the potential accident etc.). Therefore, the annual corrosion rate can differ widely (for example, 0.001% and 1% according to Yefimov (1994) and White Book-2000 (2005), respectively. A corrosion rate of 1% has been chosen here in accordance with assumption about the worst-case scenario.

Instant and continuous releases, which are used in the present report are shown in Figures 54 and 55.



Figure 54. Instantaneous releases of radionuclides.



Figure 55. Contionious releases of radionuclides after the potentiaø accident. Simulations are presented within time interval [0, 10] years.

7.2.2. Locations of the potential accident

Previous study (Iosjpe et al., 2016) has demonstrated that the ARCTICMAR model describes the water circulation and water-sediment interactions of radionuclides in the Gulf of Finland in the Baltic Sea with high precision (the Gulf of Finland is shown in Figure 51). Therefore, this region was chosen to study the influence of the kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation processes to radiological consequences after a potential nuclear accident.

In this study, it was assumed that a potential nuclear accident takes place in the additional local compartment with volume of 10^7 m^3 , which has been incorporated into the Gulf of Finland (the volume of the Gulf of Finland is of 10^{12} m^3 , approximately).

7.3. Concentrations of radionuclides in marine biota

Following the FAO/WHO (CAC, 2006) recommendations for the suitable levels of radionuclides in food, the model simulations for the radionuclide concentrations in seafood

are provided separately for each of four groups of radionuclides presented in Table 7 for the present study.

Example radionuclides		Levels (Bq/kg)	
		Infant foods	Other foods
Group 1	²⁴¹ Am, ²³⁸ Pu, ²³⁹ Pu, ²⁴⁰ Pu	1	10
Group 2	⁹⁰ Sr	100	100
Group 3	⁶⁰ Co, ¹³⁷ Cs, ²⁴¹ Pu	1000	1000
Group 4	¹⁵² Eu, ¹⁵⁵ Eu, ⁵⁹ Ni, ⁶³ Ni	1000	10 000

 Table 7. Examples of FAO/WHO international guideline levels for radionuclides in food.

It is necessary to note that during the human habit assessment for infants (Smith and Jones, 2003), which was used for the FAO/WHO guideline (CAC, 2006) levels development, the consumption of fish was found to be very low, while consumption of crustaceans and molluscs was not found at all, probably because it is generally recommended to avoid feeding children seafood before the age of 12–36 months, due to allergy concerns (Fiocchi et al., 2006; Kull et al., 2006). Therefore, the results for crustaceans and molluscs have to be used without regards to the infant guideline levels.

Figures 56 - 62 show that concentration in the typical seafood biota vary with time significantly for all groups of radionuclides. It is necessary to note that the calculations, presented in Figures 56 - 62, correspond to the local compartment of the Gulf of Finland described in section 7.2.2.



Figure 56. Concentration of radionuclides in fish for Group 1 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 57. Concentration of radionuclides in crustacean and mollusk for Group 1 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 58. Concentration of radionuclides in biota for Group 2 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 59. Concentration of radionuclides in fish for Group 3 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 60. Concentration of radionuclides in crustacean and mollusk for Group 3 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 61. Concentration of radionuclides in fish for Group 4 (CAC, 2006).



Figure 62. Concentration of radionuclides in crustacean and mollusk for Group 4 (CAC, 2006).

All biota from Groups 3 and 4, have no restrictions as seafood (Figures 59-62). Radionuclide concentrations from Group 1 exceed the Guidance levels values for all marine organisms during the entire period of simulations (ten years) and, therefore, cannot be recommended as seafood without limitations (Figures 56-57). Nevertheless, some biota can be used as sea food with the following limitations: (i) piscivorous fish can be used for adults, (ii) crustacean can be also used as seafood for adults after initial time of releases of radionuclides (two months, approximately). A similar situation is shown in Figure 58 for radionuclides from Group 2, where marine organisms generally cannot be recommended as seafood, except for fish, which can be used without restrictions. Finally, according to the current simulations, only piscivorous fish for

adults can be used as seafood from the local compartment of the Gulf of Finland, described in section 7.2.2.

It is important to note that the concentration of radionuclides from Group 1 in biota (mainly Pu-238) is low compared to the concentration of radionuclides from Group 3 (mainly Cs-137). However, despite this, restrictions on the use of seafood is more significant for radionuclides from Group 1 due to dose conversion factors for alpha radiation-emitting radionuclides being much higher than for gamma and beta-emitting radionuclides.

7.4. Doses to a human in the critical group

In the present report, the critical group of humans is defined as persons with high consumption of seafood from the local compartment of the Gulf of Finland (Bergsten, 2003; Iosjpe et al., 2009). It is also assumed here that this group will use crustacean and mollusks in spite of recommended restrictions from the section 7.3 with the following dietary data: (i) sea fish, 200 g/d; (ii) crustacean, 40 g/d; (iii) mollusks, 4 g/d (Bergsten, 2003).

Figures 63 shows the dynamic of the total dose for a human in the critical group. Figure 64 demonstrates that the main impact to the maximal dose for a human in the critical group (1 mSv, approximately, during the third year after start of radioactivity releases) corresponds to Cs-137 (71%), Sr-90 (17%) and Pu-238 (7%).



Figure 63. Dynamic of the impact of radionuclides in the effective dose to a human in the critical group. Simulations are presented within time interval [0, 10] years.



Figure 64. Dynamic of the impact of radionuclides in the effective dose to a human in the critical group.

It is important to note that the dose of 1 mSv per year does not exceeds the public dose limit recommended by the ICRP (ICRP, 1991).

7.5. Dose rates to marine organisms

The dose rates calculated for various marine organisms in the local compartment of the Gulf of Finland (the location for the hypothetical release of radionuclides) are presented in Figures 65-71. A conservative approach is used, which assumes that marine organisms do not leave the compartment during the simulation time. Figure 65 shows the total impact of all selected different radionuclides on dose rate (in units of μ Gy/h) for biota. The calculations include both internal and external exposure.



Figure 65. The dose-rates dynamic for selected biota, μ Gy/h. Simulations are presented within time interval [0, 1] year (top) and [0-10] years (bottom).

Figures 66-71 show the most significant impact of radionuclides to the dose rates of biota. It is important to note that impact of radionuclides to the total dose rates can vary with time in wide limits.

For instance, Figure 66 shows that the main impact to the dose rate to non-piscivorous fish at the onset of discharge corresponds to Cs-137 (81%) while the main impact after 45 days to the dose rate corresponds to Pu-238 (66%).



Figure 66. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for non-piscivorous fish at the onset of discharge (top) and after 45 days from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.6 and 0.8 μ Gy/h, respectively.

Others

5%

Significant differences between results presented in Figure 66 can be explained by the fact that immediately after the start of releases, the dose-rate for non-piscivorous fish is dominated by external radiation, mainly from Cs-137. It is necessary to note that Cs-137 dominates instantaneous release according to the present study (see Figure 54). After some time, internal radiation (mainly, Pu-238) dominates the dose-rate for non-piscivorous fish for the present release scenario because of relatively fast and high bioaccumulation and the default radiation weighting factor of 10 for alpha radiation as presented in Section 7.1.3 of the present report.

For piscivorous fish, Cs-137 dose rates dominate almost the entire time (Figure 67). Figure 67 demonstrates that the effect of Pu-238 also increases with time.



Figure 67. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for piscivorous fish at the onset of discharge (top) and after 2 years from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.6 and 0.2 μ Gy/h, respectively.

The effect of different radionuclides on the crustacean dose rate (i) at initial time (immediately after the start of releases of radionuclides) and (ii) after 15 days from the start of radioactivity release, is shown in Figure 68. At initial time, the dose rate for crustaceans is dominated by Cs-137 because, similar to impact to fish, the dose rate is strongly dominated by external exposure, but after short time after the onset of discharge, Eu-152 and Pu-238 dominate the dose-rate for crustaceans.





Figure 68. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for crustaceans at the onset of discharge (top) and after 15 days from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.3 and 3.4μ Gy/h, respectively

The effect of different radionuclides on the molluscs dose rate at initial time and after 15 days from the start of radioactivity release, is shown in Figure 69. Figure 69 shows that Pu-238 dominates the dose-rate for molluscs, but at initial time the dose rate is dominated by Cs-137, similar to the previous results.




Figure 69. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for crustaceans at the onset of discharge (top) and after 15 days from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.3 and 12.8 μ Gy/h, respectively.

Similar to the previous results, the dose rate for mammals is dominated by Cs-137 at initial time (Figure 70, top). The effect of different radionuclides after 4 years, approximately, is shown in Figure 70 (bottom) where the dose-rate for mammals is dominated by Pu-238 and Cs-137.





Figure 70. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for mammals at the onset of discharge (top) and after 50 months from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.3 and 1.4 μ Gy/h, respectively.

The results for seabirds are similar to those for marine mammals (see Figure 71). Perhaps it should be noted that around the time when the dose rate for seabirds is maximal (3.5 years, approximately after the first release time), the effects of Cs-137, Pu-238 and Sr-90 are almost equal.



Figure 71. Contribution of various radionuclides to the dose rate for mammals at the onset of discharge (top) and after 50 months from the onset of discharge (bottom) with dose rates of 0.55 and 1.6 μ Gy/h, respectively.

It is important to note that the calculations presented in Figure 65 show that only for molluscs and only during one at initial time of releases (45 days, approximately) the dose rate exceeds the screening dose (10 μ Gy/h), which can be considered as a safe level below which the potential for significant impacts on biota would be negligible.

8. Conclusions

It was shown that it is impossible to use two approaches for the bioaccumulation process at the same time: (i) bioaccumulation based on the concentration rate approach and (ii) kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation process. Simultaneous use of these two approaches provides a wrong description of the bioaccumulation process and concentration of radionuclides in biota, especially during the first period of exposure. In this connection, the evaluation of the kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process for a wide set of radionuclides and biota has been provided.

Preliminary evaluation of the kinetic parameters has been provided based on literature review and the extraction from existing databases.

The selected kinetic parameters have been further improved based on mathematical experiments, including the successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during increasing trophic levels.

The sub-model with the modified kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process has been used based on simulations from the compartmental model, which uses the non-instantaneous dispersion of radioactivity in the marine environment. The selected release scenario corresponds to a potential accident with nuclear submarine reactor in the Gulf of Finland.

Concentrations of radionuclides in biota, doses to humans and dose rates to the marine organisms have been evaluated.

The results of the present study can be used to improve the ability to evaluate the consequences to humans and biota after a radioactive release into marine environment. It was shown that the methodology, which was used here allows to find a suitable set of kinetic parameters, but it is impossible to proof that this set of parameters is the best version. Therefore, it is important to justify the correctness of the parameters by site-specific information from considered marine regions.

9. References.

Beresford, N.A., Beaugelin-Seiller, K., Wells, C., Vives-Lynch, S., Vives i Batlle, J., Wood, M.D., Tagami, K., Real, A., Burgos, J., Fesenko, S., Cujic, M., Kryshev, A., Pachal, N., Su, B.S., Barnett, C.L., Uchida, S., Hinton, T., Mihalík, J., Stark, K., Willrodt, C., Chaplow, J., 2015. A Database of Radionuclide Biological Half-life Values for Wildlife. NERC-Environmental Information Data Centre. <u>http://doi.org/10.5285/b95c2ea7-47d2-4816-b942-68779c59bc4d</u>.

Bergsten, C., 2003. Fish and Game Study, Part B. The Consumption of Foods that may be Important when Assessing the Dietary Intake of Mercury, Cadmium and PCB/ dioxins, with a Focus on Population Groups Living on the Coast and in the Inland of Norway. Norwegian Food Safety Authority, Oslo (in Norwegian).

Brown J.E., Alfonso B., Avila R. et al., 2008: The ERICA tool. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, 2008, 99(9), 1371-1383.

Brown J., Børretzen P., Dowdall M., Sazykina T., and Kryshev I., 2004. The derivation of transfer parameters in the assessment of radiological impacts on Arctic marine biota. Arctic, 57, No. 3, 279-289.

Brown, J.E. & Hosseini, A., 2019. 'Task 3.3 - Prioritization based on radiological hazards'. Feasibility study INSC/2013/ MC.04/13 Report for Feasibility Study and Preparation for the Implementation of an Action Plan Concerning the Safe and Secure Management/Disposal of Sunken Radioactive Objects in the Arctic Sea; Report to : Directorate General for International Cooperation and Development – Europeaid.

CAC, 2006. Codex Alimentarius Commission: Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme. Appendix XXXI. ftp://ftp.fao.org/codex/Alinorm06/al29_41e.pdf (09.01.07)

CEC, 1990. The Radiological Exposure of the Population of the European Community from Radioactivity in North European Marine Waters. Project 'Marina'. Commission of the European Communities, Bruxelles. EUR 12483.

EC, 2000. The radiological exposure of the population of the European Community to radioactivity in the Baltic Sea, Marina-Balt Project. European Commission, Luxembourg, EUR 19200.

EC, 1994. The Radiological Exposure of the Population of the European Community from Radioactivity in the Mediterranean Sea. Project "MARINA-Med". In: Radiation Protection Series 69, EC XI-094/93.

EFMARE, 2015. Effects of dynamic behaviour of Nordic marine environment to radioecological assessments. Halldórssón Ó., Iosjpe M., Isaksson M., Joensen H.P., Jonsson G., Logemann K., Roos P., Suolanen V., Thomas R., Vartti V.-P., NKS-326, ISBN 978-87-7893-407-9, http://www.nks.org/en/nks_reports/view_document.htm?id=111010212673171

ERICA, 2019. ERICA assessment tools, 2019, http://erica-tool.com/erica/

Fiocchi, A., Assa'ad, A., Bahna, S., 2006. Food allergy and the introduction of solid foods to infants: a consensus document. Adverse Reactions to Foods Committee, American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 2006 Jul; 97(1):10–20; quiz 21, 77.

Gwynn JP, Brown J., Kovacs KM, Lydersen G, 2006. The deriviation f radionuclide transfer parameters for and dose-rates to an adult ringed seal (Phoca hispida) in an Arctic environment. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, 90(3), 197-209.

Heling R., Koziy I., Bulgakov V., 2002. On the dynamic uptake model developed for the uptake of radionuclides in marine organisms for the POSEIDON-R model system. Radioprotection 37 (C1), 833-838.

Hosseini, A., Amundsen, I., Brown, J.E., Dowdall, M., Standring W. (2015). Inventory and source term evaluation on the dumped nuclear submarine K-27. StrålevernRapport 2015:06. Østerås: Statens strålevern, 2015.

Hosseini, A., Amundsen, I., Bartnicki, J., Brown, J.E., Dowdall, M., Dyve, J.E., Karcher, M., Kauker, F., Klein, H., Lind, O.C., Salbu, B., Schnur, R., Standring, W., 2016. Environmental Modelling and Radiological Impact Assessment Associated with Hypothetical Accident Scenarios for the Nuclear Submarine K-27. StrålevernRapport 2016:8. Statens strålevern, Østerås, Norway.

Hosseini, A., Amundsen, I., Brown, J.E., Dowdall, M., Dyve, J.E., Klein H., 2017. Radiological impact assessment for hypothetical accident scenarios involving the Russian nuclear submarine K-159. StrålevernRapport 2017:12. Østerås: Statens strålevern.

IAEA, 1998. Radiological conditions of the Western Kara Sea: assessment of the radiological impact of the dumping of radioactive waste ion the Arctic Seas. Radiological assessment reports series 4. Vienna: IAEA, 1998.

IAEA, 2001. Generic models for use in assessing the impact of discharges of radioactive substances to the environment. Safety report series No. 19, IAEA, Vienna, 2001.

IAEA, 2014. Handbook of parameter values for the prediction of radionuclide transfer to wildlife. IAEA technical report series 479. Vienna, IAEA.

IAEA, 2004. Sediment distribution coefficients and concentration factors for the biota in the marine environment. IAEA technical report series 422. Vienna, IAEA.

IASAP, 2003. Modelling of the radiological impact of radioactive waste dumping in the Arctic Seas. IAEA-TECDOC-1330. Vienna: International Atomic Energy Agency, IAEA.

ICRP, 1991. 1990 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection. ICRP Publication 60. Ann. ICRP 21 (1-3).

Iosjpe M., 2006. Environmental Modelling: Modified Approach for Compartmental Models. In: Radionuclides in the Environment. Edd. P.P. Povinec, J.A. Sanchez-Cabeza. Radioactivity in the Environment, vol. 8, Series Editor: M.S. Baxter, 2006, 463-476.

Iosjpe M., O. Reistad, I.B. Amundsen, 2009. Radioecological consequences of a potential accident during transport of spent nuclear fuel along an Arctic coastline. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 100 (2009) 184–191.

Iosjpe M., 2011. A sensitivity analysis of the parameters controlling water-sediment interactions in the coastal zone: Consequences to man and environment, Journal of Marine Systems 88 (2011), 82-89.

Iosjpe M., Amundsen I., Brown J., Dowdall M., Hosseini A, Strand P. Radioecological Assessment after Potential Accidents with the Russian Nuclear Submarines K-27 and K-159 in the Arctic Marine Environment. DSA Report 2020:07. Østerås: Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, 2020.

Iosjpe M., Brown J. & Strand P., 2002. Modified Approach for Box Modelling of Radiological Consequences from Releases into Marine Environment, Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 60, No 1-2, 91-103.

Iosjpe M., Isaksson M., Joensen H.P., Jonsson G., Logemann K., Roos P., Suolanen V., Thomas R., 2016. Effects of dynamic behaviour of Nordic marine environment to radioecological assessments, 15 Febr 2016, ISBN: 978-87-7893-442-0, http://www.nks.org/en/nks_reports/view_document.htm?id=111010213400466

Iosjpe M., M. Karcher, J. Gwynn, I. Harms, R. Gerdes and F. Kauker, 2009. Improvement of the dose assessment tools on the basis of dispersion of the ⁹⁹Tc in the Nordic Seas and the Arctic Ocean. Radioprotection, vol. 44, no 5, 531-536.

Iosjpe M. and Liland A., 2012. Evaluation of environmental sensitivity of the marine regions. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 108 (2012) 2-8.

Iosjpe M., Suolanen V., Isaksson M., Joensen H. P., Ilkov M, 2021. Preliminary choosing of the kinetic parameters based on available information, Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (DSA).

Iosjpe M. 2014. Radioecological assessment of marine environment: complexity, sensitivity and uncertainties. International conference on radioecology and environmental radioactivity 7-12 September, Barcelona, Spain. Extended abstracts. Online publication O-026, <u>https://intranet.pacifico-meetings.com/amsysweb/publicacionOnline.jsf?id=146</u>

Karcher M.J. and Harms I.H., 2000. Estimation of water and ice fluxes in the Arctic for an improved box structure of the NRPA box model. In: Iosjpe M. (Ed.): Transport and fate of contaminants in the Northern Seas, NRPA, 2000.

Keum D.-K., Jin L., Kim B.-H., Lim K.-M., Choi Y.-H., 2015. A dynamic model to estimate the activity concentration and whole body dose rate of marine biota as consequences of a nuclear accident. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, 140, 84-94.

Kull, I., Bergstroöm, A., Lilja, G., Pershagen, G., Wickman, M., 2006. Fish consumption during the first year of life and development of allergic diseases during childhood. Allergy 61 (8), 1009–1015.

Maderch V., Bezhenar R., Heling R., G. de With, Jung K.T., Myoung J.G., Cho Y.-K., Qiao F., Robertson L., 2013. Regional long-term model of radioactivity dispersion and fate in the Fukushima Dai-ichi accident. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 2013, www.elsevier.com/locate/jenvrad.

Nagy KA (2001). Food requirements of wild animals: predictive equations for freeliving mammals, reptiles, and birds. Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews, Series B 71, 21R-31R.

Periánez R., Bezhenar R., Brovchenko I., Duffa C., Iosjpe M., Jung K.T., Kobayashi T., Lamego F., Maderich V., Min B.I., Nies H., Osvath I., Outola I., Psaltaki M., Suh K.S., G. de With, 2016. Modelling of marine radionuclide dispersion in IAEA MODARIA program: lessons learnt from the Baltic Sea and Fukushima scenarios. The science of the total environment, vol. 569-570, 594-602.

PREPARE, 2015. Design document for POSEIDON model integration. Deliverable D 5.2, PREPARE(WP5)-(1)-01.

Reistad O., 2008. Analyzing Russian naval nuclear safety and security by measuring and modeling reactor and fuel inventory and accidental releases. Doctoral thesis at NTNU, 2008:14.

Smith, K., Jones, A., 2003. Generalised Habit Data for Radiological Assessment. NRPB Report W41.

Suolanen V., 2021. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, Personal communication.

Thomann R.V., 1981. Equilibrium model of fate of microcontaminants in diverse aquatic food-chains. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 38:280-296.

UNSCEAR, 2008. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Energy. Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation. 2008 Report to the General Assembly, with Scientific Annexes. Volume I. New York: United Nations, 2010. Available from: http://www.unscear.org/docs/reports/2008/09-86753_Report_2008_GA_Report_corr2.pdf

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY. 2002. A graded approach for evaluating radiation doses to aquatic and terrestrial biota. RADIOLOGICAL IMPACTS ON ARCTIC MARINE BIOTA Technical Standard DOE-STD-1153-2002. Washington D.C.:U.S. Department of Energy.

Vives i Batlle J., Beresford N.A., Beaugelin-Seiller K., Bezhenar R., Brown J., Cheng J.-J., Ćujić M., Dragović S., Duffa C., Fiévet B., K.T., Kamboj S., Keum D.-K., Kryshev A., LePoire D., Maderich V., Min B.-I., Periáñez R., Sazykina T., Suh K.-S., Yu C., Wang C.,

Helling R. 2016. Inter-comparison of dynamic models for radionuclide transfer to marine biota in a Fukushima accident scenario. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 153, 31-50.

Vives i Batlle J., Wilson R.C., Watts S.J., Jones S.R., McDonald P., Vives-Lynch S., 2008. Dynamic model for assessment of radiological exposure to marine biota. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 99, 1711-1730.

Vives i Batlle J, Wilson RC, McDonald P, Allometric methodology for the calculation of biokinetic parameters for marine biota. The Science of the Total Environment, 18 Sep 2007, 388(1-3):256-269, DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.07.048 PMID: 17878058

WHICKER, F.W., and SCHULTZ, V. 1982. Radioecology: Nuclear energy and the environment. Vol. 2. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press Inc.

White Book-2000, 2005. Technological radionuclides in the seas surrounding Russia, IzdAT, Moscow, p. 624.

de With G., R. Bezhenar, V. Maderich, Y. Yevdin, M. Iosjpe, K.T. Jung, F. Qiao, R. Perianez, 2021. Development of a dynamic food chain model for assessment of the radiological impact from radioactive releases to the aquatic environment. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Volume 233, 106615.

Yankovich, T., Beresford, N., Wood, M., Aono, T., Anderson, P., Barnett, C. L., Bennett, P., Brown, J. E., Fesenko, S., Fesenko, J., Hosseini, A., Howard, B. J., Johansen, P., Phaneuf, M. M., Tagami, K., Takata, H., Twining, J. R., and Uchida, S, 2010. Whole body to tissue-specific concentration ratios for use in biota dose assessments for animals, Radiation Environ, Biophysics, 49, 549–565, 2010.

Yefimov E., 1994. Radionuclides composition, characteristics of shielding barriers and analysis of week points of the dumped reactors of nuclear submarine N 601, Working material of the International Arctic Seas assessment project IASAP, IAEA-IASAP-6, Vienna.

10. Appendix. The equilibrium/quasi-equilibrium concentration rates

The concentration rates are shown in Table A1, where AM is the arithmetic mean, GM is geometric mean, Min and Max are minimum and maximum values of the parameters.

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Phytoplanctoon	Am-241	2.1E5	1.1E5	7.0E3	6.9E5	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	2.0E5				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	3.1E3	1.8E3	1.0E2	1.24	IAEA, 2014; Erica,
						2019; Brown et al.,
						2008
	Co-60	2.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	8.5E0	3.6E0	1.0E0	7.3E1	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	2.0E1				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	1.3E2				Erica, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	9.0E4				IAEA, 2004;
	Eu-155					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	5.7E2	3.5E2	1.6E2	1.4E3	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	3.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.4E3				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.3E5	8.3E4	4.0E2	6.3E5	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	2.0E5				IAEA, 2004;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Sr-90	1.9E2	9.6E1	4.0E0	1.6E3	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	1.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.1E2				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
Macroalgae	Am-241	4.3E2	2.1E2	3.9E1	3.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	8.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	1.7E3	7.8E2	9.0E0	1.4E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	6.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	2.1E3				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	9.6E1	2.4E1	3.7E0	4.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	5.0E1				IAEA, 2004;
						ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008

 Table A1. The concentration rates.

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Macroalgae	Eu-152, Eu-154,	1.4E3	1.1E3	3.0E2	2.6E3	IAEA, 2014
	Eu-155					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008;
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	3.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-155					
	Ni-63, Ni-59	9.5E2	6.9E2	2.5E2	2.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	7.9E2				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.1E3	1.7E3	8.5E1	4.9E4	IAEA, 2014;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Sr-90	2.9E1	1.4E1	2.0E-1	3.3E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	1.0E1				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	4.2E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
Zooplanctoon	Am-241	4.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	4.8E3	2.9E3	2.0E2	2.6E4	IAEA, 2014;
						ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Co-60	7.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	1.3E2	6.7E1	2.9E0	9.9E2	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	4.0E1				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	1.1E2				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.0E3				IAEA, 2004;
	Eu-155					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	5.0E2				IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004;
						ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	7.8E3	4.5E3	2.0E3	2.8E4	IAEA, 2014;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-240; Pu-241	6.051	4.051	1 1 1 1 1	1.552	
	Sr-90	6.8E1	4.8E1	I.IEI	1.5E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	2.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	4.6E0				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Am-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Non-piscivorous	Am-241	4.0E1				Present study.
fish / Pelagic						Suolanen, 2021
small fish						
	Co-60	1.1E3	3.8E2	3.5E1	1.0E4	IAEA. 2014
	Co-60	7.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Co-60	3.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Co-60	5.6E3				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	1.2E2	6.8E1	1.2E1	1.0E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	8.6E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	1.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Cs-137	3.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	7.3E2				IAEA, 2014
	Eu-155					
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-155					
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019;
	Eu-155					Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	2.50E1				Present study.
	Eu-155					Suolanen, 2021
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.5E2	2.0E2	5.5E1	6.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	6.9E2	3.4E2	2.0E2	4.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	3.5E3				ERICA, 2019;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E1				Present study.
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	4.4E1	3.3E1	1.5E-1	1.4E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	3.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.3E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Sr-90	2.0E1				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Piscivorouss	Am-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
fish / Pelagic						
large fish						
	Am-241	4.0E1				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Co-60	1.1E4	5.0E3	28	7.8E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	7.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Co-60	3.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Co-60	5.6E3				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	7.9E1	5.9E1	7.4E0	3.6E2	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	1.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Cs-137	8.6E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	3.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019;
	Eu-155					Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-155					
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	2.50E1				Present study.
	Eu-155					Suolanen, 2021
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.5E2	2.0E2	5.5E1	6.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	3.5E3				ERICA, 2019;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.9E2	1.4E2	1.0E0	5.5E2	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E1				Present study.
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	3.8E1	2.0E1	2.0E-1	1.9E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	3.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.3E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Sr-90	2.0E1				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Deposit-feeding	Am-241	4.5E1	3.3E1	6	120	IAEA, 2014
invertebrate						
	Co-60	8.3E3	5.3E3	1.0E3	2.0E4	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	1.8E2	1.3E2	1.0E1	5.1E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	4.2E3				IAEA, 2014
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.5E3	8.4E2	1.0E2	4.1E3	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Sr-90	4.6E-1				IAEA, 2014
Mollusk	Am-241	9.9E3	6.7E3	2E2	2E4	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	5.3E3	1.7E3	1.7E2	4.1E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	2.0E4				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	5.1E3				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
Mollusk	Cs-137	5.0E1	3.5E1	2.0E0	2.1E2	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	6.0E1				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	6.6E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	6.9E3				IAEA, 2014;
	Eu-155					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	7.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-155	6 452	0.050	5 5 D 1	0.154	
	N1-63, N1-59	6.4E3	2.8E3	5.5EI	2.1E4	IAEA, 2014;
						ERICA, 2019; Drown at al. 2008
	N: 62 N: 50	2.0E2				DIOWII et al., 2008
	Du 228: Du 220:	2.0E3	6 6E2	1.8E0	0.2E3	IAEA, 2004
	Pu - 238, Pu - 239, Pu - 240, Pu - 241	1.1E3	0.0E2	1.6EU	9.2E3	$\frac{1}{1}$
	1 u-240, 1 u-241					Brown et al. 2008
	Pu-238. Pu-230.	3 0E3				LAFA 2004
	$P_{11}-240$; $P_{11}-241$	5.015				IALA, 2004
	Sr-90	1 5F2	1 1F2	1.0F-1	5.0F2	IAFA 2014
	Sr-90	1.9E2	1.1122	1.02 1	5.012	IAEA 2004
	Sr-90	1.2E2				ERICA, 2019:
	21 / 0					Brown et al., 2008
Crustacean	Am-241	5.0E2				IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	4.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	3.5E3	1.7E3	2.2E2	2.2E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	7.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Co-60	1.8E3				ERICA, 2019:
		_				Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	5.3E1	2.1E1	5.5E-1	1.3E3	IAEA, 2014

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Crustacean	Cs-137	5.0E1				IAEA, 2004
	Cs-137	4.1E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.0E3				IAEA, 2004;
	Eu-155					ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	5.5E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.2E2	9.7E1	3.8E1	2.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	2.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.6E2				ERICA, 2019;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Brown et al., 2008
	Sr-90	4.9E1	2.7E1	1.5E-1	2.3E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	5.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	1.3E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
Demersal fish	Am-241	3.2E2	1.9E2	1.7E1	1.5E3	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Am-241	4.0E1				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
	Co-60	4.8E2	2.8E2	5.3E1	3.3E3	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	7.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Co-60	3.0E2				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021

Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Demersal fish	Co-60	5.6E3				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	1.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Cs-137	7.1E1	3.1E1	5.0E0	1.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	3.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Cs-137	8.6E1				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	2.50E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.5E2	2.0E2	5.5E1	6.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	2.5E3	7.3E2	2.0E0	2.7E4	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	4.0E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	3.5E3				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Demersal fish	Sr-90	1.1E1	7.4E0	3.0E0	6.0E1	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	3.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.0E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	2.3E1				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
Bottom predator	Am-241	3.2E2	1.9E2	1.7E1	1.5E3	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Am-241	4.0E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Co-60	5.3E3	1.8E3	2.8E1	7.8E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	7.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Co-60	5.6E3				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Co-60	3.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Cs-137	8.4E1	4.8E1	5.0E0	1.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	1.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Cs-137	8.6E1				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Cs-137	3.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004

Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Bottom	Eu-152, Eu-154,	2.50E1				Present study.
predator	Eu-155					Suolanen, 2021
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Eu-155					et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.5E2	2.0E2	5.5E1	6.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	1.5E3	3.6E2	1.0E0	4.5E4	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	3.5E3				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Pu-240; Pu-241					et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E1				Present study.
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	2.5E1	1.4E1	1.5E-1	1.9E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	3.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.0E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	2.3E1				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
Coastal predator	Am-241	3.2E2	1.9E2	1.7E1	1.5E3	IAEA, 2014
	Am-241	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Am-241	4.0E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Coastal predator	Co-60	5.3E3	1.8E3	2.8E1	7.8E4	IAEA, 2014
	Co-60	7.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Co-60	5.6E3				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Co-60	3.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Cs-137	8.4E1	4.8E1	5.0E0	1.8E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	1.0E2				IAEA. 2004
	Cs-137	3.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Cs-137	8.6E1				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154, Eu-155	2.50E1				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Ni-63, Ni-59	2.5E2	2.0E2	5.5E1	6.7E2	IAEA, 2014
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E3				IAEA, 2004
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.0E2				Present study. Suolanen, 2021
	Pu-238; Pu-239; Pu-240; Pu-241	1.5E3	3.6E2	1.0E0	4.5E4	IAEA, 2014

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Organism	Radionuclide	AM	GM	Min	Max	References
Coastal	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.0E2				IAEA, 2004
predator	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	3.5E3				ERICA, 2019;
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Brown et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	4.0E1				Present study.
	Pu-240; Pu-241					Suolanen, 2021
	Sr-90	2.5E1	1.4E1	1.5E-1	1.9E2	IAEA, 2014
	Sr-90	3.0E0				IAEA, 2004
	Sr-90	2.3E1				ERICA, 2019;
						Brown et al., 2008
	Sr-90	2.0E1				Present study.
						Suolanen, 2021
Seal /mammals	Co-60	5.0E2	1.7E2			IAEA, 2014;
						ERICA, 2019; Proven at al. 2008
						BIOWII et al., 2008
	Cs-137	2.1E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Cs-137	2.2E2	8.4E1	8.7E0	8.2E2	IAEA, 2014
(muscle)	Cs-137	4.0E2		3.1E1	1.0E3	IAEA, 2004
(liver)	Cs-137	3.0E2				IAEA, 2004
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Eu-155					et al., 2008
(liver)	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.1E3	9.2E2	1.0E2	4.0E3	IAEA, 2014
	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	2.8E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Pu-240; Pu-241					et al., 2008

Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Sea mammals	Pu-238; Pu-239;	8.0E0		3.0E0	2.0E1	IAEA, 2004
(liver)	Pu-240; Pu-241					
	Sr-90	1.4E0				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Sr-90	1.6E2	6.8E1	1.4E0	1.0E3	IAEA, 2014
Sea Bird	Co-60	5.0E2	1.7E2			ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Cs-137	4.8E2	2.9E2	5.0E1	3.5E3	IAEA, 2014
	Cs-137	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Eu-152, Eu-154,	4.4E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Eu-155					et al., 2008
	Ni-63, Ni-59	1.7E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008
	Pu-238; Pu-239;	1.5E2				ERICA, 2019; Brown
	Pu-240; Pu-241					et al., 2008
	Sr-90	1.4E0				ERICA, 2019; Brown
						et al., 2008

 Table A1. The concentration rates (continued).

Title	Evaluation of the bioaccumulation processes for a wide set of radionuclides under accidental releases by biota
Author(s)	Iosjpe M. ¹ , Isaksson M. ² , Joensen H. P. ³ , Jónsson G. ⁴ , Suolanen V. ⁵
Affiliation(s)	 ¹ Norwegian Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (DSA), ²Department of Medical Radiation Sciences, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ³Fróðskaparsetur Føroya, ⁴Icelandic Radiation Safety Authority, ⁵VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd
ISBN	978-87-7893-552-6
Date	May 2022
Project	NKS-B / BIORAD
No. of pages	91
No. of tables	8
No. of illustrations	71
No. of references	54
A 1 ((It was shown that it is impossible to use two emprophes for the

Abstract max. 2000 characters

It was shown that it is impossible to use two approaches for the bioaccumulation process at the same time: (i) bioaccumulation based on the concentration rate approach and (ii) kinetic modelling of the bioaccumulation process. Simultaneous use of these two approaches provides a wrong description of the bioaccumulation process and concentration of radionuclides in biota, especially during the first period of exposure. In this connection, the evaluation of the kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process for a wide set of radionuclides and biota has been provided. Preliminary evaluation of the kinetic parameters has been provided based on literature review and the extraction from existing databases. The selected kinetic parameters have been further improved based on mathematical experiments, including the successive simulations of bioaccumulation processes during increasing trophic levels. The sub-model with the modified kinetic parameters for bioaccumulation process has been used based on simulations from the compartmental model, which uses the non-instantaneous dispersion of radioactivity in the marine environment. The selected release scenario corresponds to a potential accident with nuclear submarine reactor in the Gulf of Finland. Concentrations of radionuclides in biota, doses to humans and dose rates to the marine organisms have been evaluated. The results of the present study can be used to improve the ability to evaluate the consequences to humans and biota after a radioactive release into marine environment. It was shown that the methodology, which was used in the present study allows to find a suitable set of kinetic parameters.

Key words Radionuclides, bioaccumulation, kinetic modelling, consequences to humans and biota

Available on request from the NKS Secretariat, P.O.Box 49, DK-4000 Roskilde, Denmark. Phone (+45) 4677 4041, e-mail nks@nks.org, www.nks.org